Biogas Production from Thin Stillage

Exploring the microbial response to sulphate and ammonia

Jan Moestedt

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Microbiology Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2015 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2015:10

Cover: Inside of the first digester before start-up of Norrköping Biogas plant 2007 (photo: L. Hejdenberg)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576- 8218-5 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576- 8219-2 © 2015 Jan Moestedt, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2015

Biogas production from thin stillage. Exploring the microbial response to sulphate and ammonia

Abstract

The biogas plant in Norrköping (Tekniska verken i Linköping AB, publ.), Sweden, operates with thin stillage, a residue from bio-ethanol fermentation, as the main feedstock. Thin stillage is energy-rich due to its high protein content, but due to its high nitrogen and sulphate content is a somewhat complicated feedstock. The high nitrogen concentration results in inhibition of the microbial process and also selects for nitrogen-tolerant, but slow-growing, syntrophic acetate-oxidising bacteria (SAOB). The high sulphate concentration in the feedstock results in production of toxic and inhibitory sulphides through the activity of sulphate-reducing bacteria (SRB). Measures currently applied at Norrköping biogas plant to optimise the degradation of thin stillage include: i) use of mesophilic temperature and addition of hydrochloric acid, ii) use of long hydraulic retention time and iii) addition of iron and trace elements.

This thesis investigated how to obtain a more efficient biogas process treating thin stillage, with Norrköping biogas plant as the model plant. It also explored the role of SRB in the anaerobic process at high nitrogen content and sought to identify optimal conditions for ammonia-tolerant methane-producing microorganisms. This was done by measuring SRB abundance in several large-scale biogas processes to identify conditions resulting in reduced numbers. In parallel, the effects of increasing temperature and organic load, calcium addition and a two-stage strategy were evaluated in laboratory studies. The results showed a correlation between high ammonia level and temperature with decreased abundance of SRB, but none of the operating strategies tested proved successful in repressing sulphate reduction. However, increasing ammonia and/or organic loading rate influenced both the acetogenic and methanogenic community, including potential SAOB. Moreover, increasing the temperature to 44 °C resulted in increased abundance of thermotolerant SAOB and their partner methanogen and higher biogas yield (+22%). A maximum ammonia threshold concentration of approximately 1.1 g L⁻¹ was identified.

Application of the findings reported in this thesis has resulted in increased process stability in biogas plants in Sweden.

Keywords: anaerobic digestion, biogas, sulphate, sulphate-reducing bacteria, acetogens, methanogens, syntrophic acetate-oxidising bacteria, hydrogen sulphide, thin stillage, ammonia inhibition

Author's address: Jan Moestedt, SLU, Department of Microbiology, P.O. Box 7025, 750 07 Uppsala, Sweden *E-mail:* Jan.Moestedt@tekniskaverken.se Till min kära familj

Contents

List of Publications				
Abbi	reviations	8		
1	Introduction	9		
1.1	Aims of the thesis	11		
1.2	Norrköping biogas plant	11		
2	Biogas production	13		
2.1	Microbiology of anaerobic digestion	14		
	2.1.1 Hydrolysis and acidogenesis	14		
	2.1.2 Acetogenesis	15		
	2.1.3 Methanogenesis	16		
2.2	Anaerobic digestion of thin stillage	17		
	2.2.1 The effect of sulphate	18		
	2.2.2 Sulphate-reducing bacteria	20		
	2.2.3 The effect of ammonia	24		
2.3	Optimisation of anaerobic digestion of thin stillage			
	2.3.1 Optimisation using laboratory-scale experiments	27		
	2.3.2 Optimisation with maintained sulphate reduction	29		
	2.3.3 Optimisation at high ammonia concentration	30		
	2.3.4 Inhibition of sulphate-reducing bacteria	33		
	2.3.5 Reducing the bioavailability of sulphate	35		
	2.3.6 Optimisation by utilising the sulphate-reducing bacteria	37		
3	Conclusions	41		
4	Perspectives	43		
Refe	rences	45		
Ackr	nowledgements	57		

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Moestedt, J., Nordell, E., Nilsson Påledal, S. (2013). Biogas production from thin stillage on an industrial scale – experience and optimisation *Energies* 6 (11), 5642-5655
- II Moestedt, J., Nilsson Påledal, S., Schnürer, A. (2013). The effect of substrate and operational parameters on the abundance of sulphate-reducing bacteria in industrial anaerobic digesters. *Bioresource Technology* 132, 327-332.
- III Moestedt, J., Nordell, E., Schnürer, A. (2014). Comparison of operational strategies for increased biogas production from thin stillage. *Journal of Biotechnology* 175 (1), 22-30.
- IV Moestedt, J., Müller, B., Westerholm, M., Schnürer, A. (2015). Ammonia threshold for inhibition of anaerobic digestion of thin stillage independently of loading rate and responses in the methanogenic and acetogenic community (submitted)
- V Moestedt, J., Nordell, E., Hallin, S., Schnürer, A. (2015). Attempts to separate sulphide and methane production with two-stage anaerobic digestion for industrial application (submitted)

Papers I-III are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

The contribution of Jan Moestedt to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Participated in planning the study and analysing the results. Main writer of the manuscript.
- II Participated in planning the study and analysing the results. Performed all molecular work. Main writer of the manuscript
- III Participated in planning the study and analysing the results. Performed all molecular work and monitored the reactors. Main writer of the manuscript.
- IV Participated in planning the study and analysing the results. Performed part of molecular work and monitored the reactors. Main writer of the manuscript.
- V Planned the study and participated in analysing the results. Monitored the reactors. Main writer of the manuscript.

Abbreviations

BMP	Bio-methane potential
COD	Chemical oxygen demand
CSTR	Continuously stirred tank reactor
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
HRT	Hydraulic retention time
LCFA	Long-chain fatty acids
MSW	Municipal solid waste
OFMSW	Organic fraction of municipal solid waste
OLR	Organic loading rate
OTU	Operational taxonomic unit
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
qPCR	Quantitative polymerase chain reaction
rRNA	Ribosomal ribonucleic acid
SAO	Syntrophic acetate oxidation
SAOB	Syntrophic acetate-oxidising bacteria
SRB	Sulphate-reducing bacteria
TRFLP	Terminal restriction fragment length pattern
T-RF	Terminal restriction fragment
VFA	Volatile fatty acid
WWTP	Wastewater treatment plant

1 Introduction

The Swedish public company Tekniska verken i Linköping AB carries out biogas production at three sites; Linköping co-digestion plant, Linköping wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) and Norrköping co-digestion plant. Linköping co-digestion plant is currently one of the largest biogas plants in Sweden, treating slaughterhouse waste, the organic fraction of municipal solid waste (OFMSW) and industrial waste. The Norrköping biogas plant is smaller and is designed to treat mainly thin stillage, a residue from bio-ethanol production.

The gas produced at these two biogas plants, together with gas produced at Linköping WWTP, is upgraded to vehicle fuel quality and distributed to regional buses, taxis and private cars. The Linköping co-digestion plant was established in 1997 to solve the waste disposal problems of the local slaughterhouse industry. Biogas was also recommended for use in city buses at that time to reduce emissions from public transport and improve air quality in Linköping city. Slaughterhouse waste was hence the major substrate for anaerobic digestion. Since then, biogas production has expanded and at present (2015) Tekniska verken i Linköping AB owns several dedicated fuelling stations for biogas cars in and around the region of Östergötland. The gas produced by the different plants is used by the vast majority of buses operating within public transport in the region (in the cities of Linköping, Norrköping and Motala) and by private cars. The digestate, *i.e.* the liquid residue from anaerobic digestion, is valuable due to its high nitrogen content and is used as bio-fertiliser on agricultural land. Depending on the original substrate, biofertiliser is permitted for use as an organic fertiliser and is an important alternative for organic farms in the region. The Linköping and Norrköping biogas plants are thus great examples of how anaerobic digestion can be used to convert waste to energy and fill an important role in the development of a sustainable society.

However, to meet the increasing demand for biogas and to obtain economically feasible production, biogas production processes in general need to be optimised. The economic performance of biogas plants depends on many different factors, such as subsidies, legislation, feedstock, the price of electricity and petrol *etc*. Swedish legislation promotes biogas upgrading to vehicle fuel quality. However, despite the availability of subsidies, it is difficult to achieve profitability, particularly if feedstock is costly and/or the biogas plant operates at low efficiency. For example, the conditions in the Linköping and Norrköping plants differ, since the Linköping plant receives a gate fee for a large part of its feedstock, such as OFMSW, while the Norrköping plant has to pay for its feedstock, which mainly consists of stillage from bio-ethanol production that has an alternative market value as animal feed.

Much effort has been devoted to achieving efficient processes at the Linköping and Norrköping biogas plants in terms of degradation efficiency, gas production and gas quality. However, the substrate characteristics result in production of large amounts of undesired hydrogen sulphide (H₂S) and the release of ammonia (NH₃), both representing complications at the plants (Ek et al., 2011; Paper I). Hydrogen sulphide originates from sulphur-containing amino acids, while ammonia is released from organically bound nitrogen in all amino acids. Hydrogen sulphide may also be produced through the activity of sulphate-reducing bacteria (SRB) (Rabus et al., 2006; Paper II). Hydrogen sulphide is very corrosive and odorous and removal of this component is necessary to achieve vehicle fuel quality and for public approval of biogas production. Ammonia is also an issue, since at elevated levels it inhibits microorganisms producing biogas and may lead to process instability and lower biogas production. Both compounds can thus affect the profitability and efficiency of biogas plants. In Linköping the sulphides mainly originate from organically bound sulphur in proteins, while in Norrköping the sulphide produced originates from sulphate and from proteins. The removal of hydrogen sulphide is currently achieved in both plants by addition of iron to the incoming substrate mixture, which precipitates sulphides. However, iron addition is associated with additional operating costs.

The production of high levels of ammonia and sulphide in both the Linköping and Norrköping co-digestion plants affects their possibilities to reach high biogas yield and consequently a profitable outcome. To obtain a more economical process, in the Norrköping plant in particular, operating strategies that reduce the activity of SRB and permit operation at elevated ammonia levels need to be identified.

1.1 Aims of the thesis

The overall aim of this thesis was to identify how to obtain a more efficient biogas process at the Norrköping biogas plant owned by Tekniska verken i Linköping AB. To achieve this goal, the specific objectives of the component studies were to:

- 1. Explore the role of sulphate and sulphate-reducing bacteria in the anaerobic digestion process (Papers I-V, thesis summary).
- 2. Identify optimal conditions for ammonia-tolerant methane-producing microorganisms during anaerobic digestion of thin stillage (Papers III and IV).
- 3. Decrease the competiveness of sulphate-reducing bacteria in the biogas process by changing the environmental conditions (*i.e.* temperature, pH or nitrogen concentration) or by addition of inhibitory compounds (Papers **III-V**, thesis summary).

1.2 Norrköping biogas plant

The Norrköping biogas plant is designed to treat thin stillage as its main substrate. The plant is located within one kilometre from a bio-ethanol plant (Lantmännen Agroetanol AB) and the substrate (*i.e.* thin or condensed stillage) can be transported by tanker between the plants. The annual amount of substrate treated to date has been about 4000 ton volatile solids (VS) and the capacity is approximately 2 MW (Paper I). The plant has two main digesters of 1800-2000 m³ and a post-digester of 4000 m³. The digestate is transported to local farms by tanker for further storage (Figure 1). One public fuelling station is located directly at the plant, while the gas is transported either by pipeline or by tanker to additional fuelling stations and the city bus depot.



Figure 1. Schematic illustration of the Norrköping biogas plant. Black arrows illustrate organic flows and grey arrows gas flows.

2 Biogas production

Anaerobic digestion is the microbiological degradation of organic material in the absence of oxygen. The end product of anaerobic digestion is biogas, typically consisting of mainly methane (CH₄) and carbon dioxide (CO₂) (Angelidaki *et al.*, 2011). The process occurs in natural environments, but has historically also been exploited by humans for centuries. Anaerobic digestion is generally used at WWTP in Europe to stabilise and reduce the final amount of sludge, as well as producing biogas (Appels *et al.*, 2008).

In 2013, total biogas production in Sweden reached almost 1700 GWh, an increase of 37% from the 2006 level. The main feedstock for biogas production still originates from WWTP, but an increasing amount of biogas, corresponding to 34% of the total amount of biogas produced in Sweden in 2013, is being produced in co-digestion plants (Swedish Energy Agency, 2013). These co-digestion plants typically do not use sludge from WWTP, but aim for feedstocks with comparatively high gas potential and high availability. For European co-digestion plants, these feedstocks are typically energy crops, manure, industrial wastes, slaughterhouse waste, harvest residues and OFMSW (Weiland, 2010). These materials contain much more readily available energy and anaerobic digestion than WWTP sludge. Biogas production can thus fill a key function in recycling waste to energy, since various organic residues from fermentation and bio-refinery processes can be treated. It has even been suggested that biogas can supply the energy (methane) and nutrients (digestate) needed for growing the feedstocks and hence create an energy-efficient and cyclic industrial bio-industry (Martin et al., 2014). The Norrköping codigestion plant, with its industrial symbiosis with the city's bio-ethanol and district heating plant, has been mentioned as an example of this (Martin & Eklund, 2011). Co-digestion by combining substrates of different origins in a well-considered mix is also positive, as it can be used to achieve optimal conditions for the microorganisms involved in anaerobic digestion. Feedstock should hence be selected to obtain a complete and balanced nutrient content as

regards carbon:nitrogen (C:N) ratio, proteins, fats, carbohydrates, trace metals *etc*. Co-digestion can also be used to dilute inhibitory substances, such as sulphate, sulphur, nitrogen, long-chain fatty acids (LCFA) or salts. The volume of biogas produced from a specific amount of feedstock depends on: i) the structure of the material, which dictates the available fraction of organic material that can be converted into gas and ii) its content of fat, proteins and carbohydrates (Weiland, 2010). As a consequence, materials rich in protein and fat, such as slaughterhouse waste, residues from fermentation processes and OFMSW, are of great interest for biogas production due to the high gas yields and/or high degradability (Ek *et al.*, 2011).

2.1 Microbiology of anaerobic digestion

The anaerobic digestion process is traditionally separated into four different microbiological steps: i) hydrolysis, ii) acidogenesis, iii) acetogenesis and iv) methanogenesis. These steps are performed by diverse microbial groups, in close dependence on each other (Figure 2).

2.1.1 Hydrolysis and acidogenesis

During hydrolysis, extracellular enzymes are excreted by primary fermentative bacteria to convert polymeric organics (fat, proteins and carbohydrates) to monomers. The monomers (fatty acids or glycerides, amino acids and sugars) are then accessible for uptake. The primary fermentative bacteria degrade these monomers during the step called acidogenesis and produce volatile fatty acids (VFAs), succinate, lactate, alcohols, carbon dioxide and hydrogen as fermentation products (Angelidaki *et al.*, 2011; Schink, 1997; Zinder, 1984). At the same time, organically bound nitrogen and sulphides are released from amino acids and/or nucleic acids as ammonium (NH₄⁺), ammonia (NH₃) and hydrogen sulphide (H₂S) (Figure 2). The hydrogen and acetate can be used directly in methanogenesis, while the residual organic products from acidogenesis need additional degradation before methanisation (Figure 2). If the hydrogen and acetate concentrations are kept low by consumption further along the anaerobic digestion chain, the products of acidogenesis are mainly acetate and hydrogen (Worm *et al.*, 2010).



Figure 2. The different degradation pathways of the anaerobic digestion process. * indicates a substrate that can be utilised by SRB (
Syntrophic degradation,
Syntrophic acetate oxidation,
Acetotrophic methanogenesis,
Hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis).

2.1.2 Acetogenesis

The products from acidogenesis need to be consumed to avoid accumulation of VFA and hence loss of methane. Moreover, accumulation of acids can result in decreasing pH and potentially even in disruption of the whole anaerobic digestion process (Ahring *et al.*, 1995; Zinder, 1984). During acetogenesis, the VFAs, sugars and alcohols resulting from acidogenesis therefore need to be further degraded by secondary fermentative (syntrophic) bacteria to hydrogen and acetate (Angelidaki *et al.*, 2011; Madigan *et al.*, 2006). The reactions performed by these syntrophic bacteria produce acetate, hydrogen and carbon dioxide in different ratios and are typically thermodynamically unfavourable under standard conditions, *i.e.* positive standard energy (Table 1). For these reactions to proceed, the hydrogen pressure needs to be reduced to low levels and the acetate concentration can also be of importance (Schink, 1997). The hydrogen pressure needed for the degradation to proceed depends on the type of VFA present and the prevailing environmental conditions. For example, at pH 7.0 and 25 °C, the hydrogen level required is approximately 10^{-3} atm. for

butyrate and even lower for acetate (about 10^4 atm.) (Worm *et al.*, 2010; Lee & Zinder, 1988a; Zinder & Koch, 1984). If hydrogen is not removed, the reversed reaction to acetate can be thermodynamically favoured and is performed by homoacetogens (Saady, 2013; Paper V).

Table 1. Free energy requirement for oxidation of products from acidogenesis (Schink, 1997; Zinder, 1984). $\Delta G'$ values based on Zinder (1984) with typical conditions for anaerobic digestion: 37 C; pH 7; [acetate]=[propionate]=[butyrate]=1mM; [HCO₃] = 20mM; CH4 = 0.6 atm; H₂ = 10⁻⁴ atm.

Intermediate	Reaction	Standard free energy	Free energy	
		(ΔG°) , kJ mol ⁻¹)	$(\Delta G', kJ mol^{-1})$	
Propionate $+ 3H_2O \rightarrow$	Acetate $+$ HCO ₃ $+$ 3H ₂ $+$ H ⁺	+ 76	- 5	
Butyrate + $2H_2O \rightarrow$	$2\text{Acetate}^{-} + 2\text{H}_2 + 2\text{H}^+$	+ 48	- 17	
$^{1}\text{Acetate} + 2\text{H}_{2}\text{O} \rightarrow$	$2HCO_{3}^{-} + 4H_{2} + H^{+}$	+ 105	+ 7	
² Acetate ⁺ H ₂ O \rightarrow	$CH_4 + HCO_3 + H^+$	- 31	- 24	
$^{3}2\text{HCO}_{3}^{-} + 4\text{H}_{2} + \text{H}^{+} \rightarrow$	$CH_4 + 3H_2O$	- 136	- 32	

¹Acetate oxidation

² Acetotrophic methanogenesis

³ Hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis

2.1.3 Methanogenesis

Methanogenesis is performed by organisms called methanogens belonging to the domain *Archaea*. The most commonly occurring methanogens in a biogas process are typically divided into two functionally different groups. The first group, hydrogenotrophic methanogens, typically consume hydrogen together with carbon dioxide or formate produced during acidogenesis and acetogenesis (Table 1). These hydrogen-consuming methanogens are represented by four different orders: *Methanomicrobiales*, *Methanococcales*, *Methanobacteriales* and hyperthermophilic *Methanopyrales* (Angelidaki *et al.*, 2011). The relatively newly discovered *Methanomassiliicoccales* also use hydrogen, but reduce methyl compounds (Dridi *et al.*, 2012).

The other group, acetotrophic methanogens, can cleave acetate directly into one methyl and one carboxyl group, and the methyl group is converted to methane (Zinder, 1984). Acetotrophic methanogens are only represented by one order, *Methanosarcinales*, which includes the two methanogenic families *Methanosarcinacea* and *Methanosaetaceae*. *Methanosaetaceae* sp. only use acetate, while *Methanosarcinacea* sp. are metabolically more diverse and can also use hydrogen, carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, methanol and methylated C_1 compounds as their carbon source and energy source (De Vrieze *et al.*, 2012; Angelidaki *et al.*, 2011). *Methanosarcinacea* sp. are also relatively fastgrowing, with doubling times shorter than one day, while *Methanosaetaceae* sp. are more slow-growing (doubling time 4-6 days) (Angelidaki *et al.*, 2011; Zinder, 1984).

Acetate can thus be directly degraded by acetotrophic methanogenesis or, alternatively, as has been suggested for environments sub-optimal for the methanogenes performing acetotrophic methanogenesis, through syntrophic acetate oxidisation (SAO), where oxidation of acetate is combined with hydrogen consumption (Figure 2, see also section 2.2.3).

The degradation of acetate is important since in mesophilic conditions approximately two-thirds of the methane produced is derived from acetate, through acetogenesis, rather than directly from hydrogen and carbon dioxide (Worm *et al.*, 2010).

2.2 Anaerobic digestion of thin stillage

Residues from ethanol fermentation are very abundant organic sources that can be used for biogas production. The annual production of ethanol for vehicle fuel in Europe is 4000 million litres (EurObserv'er, 2012). For each litre of ethanol produced, approximately 5-10 litres of stillage are created as a residue (Börjesson & Tufvesson, 2011). Whole stillage is the organic fraction separated from ethanol during the distillation process and large volumes of whole stillage with high water content (87-90%) are produced. At present, the most common use for stillage is as animal feed. To increase its suitability for animal feed applications and to reduce waste volumes, the stillage is dried at the ethanol plant by energy-intense centrifugation. After centrifugation of whole stillage, thin stillage with high water content (90%) is obtained as the supernatant fraction. For animal feed applications, this fraction is further vaporised by heat to decrease the water content to about 70%. This treatment of whole stillage poses a threat to the economic viability of ethanol plants due to the costly procedures involved, which can require up to one-third of the total energy consumption at the plant (Drosg et al., 2013). A potential way of circumventing this problem is to use whole stillage or thin stillage directly, without drying, for biogas production (Drosg et al., 2013; Wood et al., 2013). This would eliminate the energy requirement for drying stillage and instead result in the production of renewable energy (in the form of biogas), which could be used to meet the internal energy demand and thus greatly improve the energy balance at bio-ethanol plants (Martin et al., 2014; Drosg et al., 2013; Wood et al., 2013). Against this background, anaerobic digestion of thin stillage is an interesting proposition. The Norrköping co-digestion plant is one such plant, built in 2007 to treat a small part of the stillage fractions produced at a nearby bio-ethanol plant (Paper I). Thin stillage consists of soluble

organics which are readably available for degradation. The chemical composition is mainly high levels of proteins together with fibre and sugars which have not been converted to ethanol during fermentation (Kim et al., 2008; Wilkie et al., 2000). However, the gas yield is quite low, about 0.3 m³ CH₄ kg⁻¹ VS (2.9 kWh kg⁻¹ VS) with a methane content of 50-55% (Schmidt *et* al., 2013; Westerholm, 2012b; Alkan-Ozkaynak & Karthikevan, 2011: Dererie et al., 2011; Gustavsson et al., 2011; Paper III). Degradation of stillage fractions can also be problematic due to the high protein content, leading to elevated ammonia concentration. Moreover, addition of sulphuric acid is common during the ethanol fermentation process, which leads to sulphate reduction during the anaerobic process (Paper I). If sulphate reduction occurs in the process, the resulting H₂S needs to be taken care of in order to maintain air quality in the vicinity of the biogas plants and prevent public complaints about the biogas industry. Hydrogen sulphide is not only odorous, but also very reactive, corrosive and even toxic to humans and to the microorganisms involved in anaerobic digestion. In Sweden, the sulphide content in commercial biogas is strictly regulated to <28 ppmv (Swedish Standard 15 54 38, SP Technical Research Institute of Sweden), in order to control odour and corrosive effects.

2.2.1 The effect of sulphate

The presence of alternative electron acceptors in anaerobic digestion can lead to disruption of methanogenesis. Oxygen is detrimental to anaerobic digestion for many reasons, *e.g.* it is a superior electron acceptor (E_0' for O_2/H_2O : + 0.82) and can cause oxygen toxicity in methanogens. Other plausible electron acceptors such as nitrate ($E_0' NO_3'/N_2$: + 0.75) and sulphate (E_0' for SO_4^{2-}/SO_3^{2-} and SO_3^{2-}/HS^- : - 0.52 and - 0.22 resp.) also affect methanogenesis, as both are more favourable than carbon dioxide (E_0' for CO_2/CH_4 : - 0.25).

Intermediate	Reaction	Standard free energy
		$(\Delta G^{\circ}, kJ mol^{-1})$
Propionate $+ \frac{3}{4}SO_4^2 + H^+ \rightarrow$	Acetate $+ HCO_3 + \frac{3}{4}HS + \frac{1}{4}H^+$	- 38
Butyrate + $\frac{1}{2}$ SO ₄ ²⁻ \rightarrow	$2Acetate^{-} + \frac{1}{2} HS^{-} + \frac{1}{2} H^{+}$	- 28
Acetate + $SO_4^2 \rightarrow$	$2 \text{ HCO}_3^- + \text{HS}^-$	- 48
$\mathrm{SO_4}^{2-} + 4\mathrm{H_2} + \mathrm{H^+} \rightarrow$	$HS^{-} + 4H_2O$	- 152

Table 2. Standard free energy for oxidation of products from acidogenesis with $SO_4^{2^2}$ as electron acceptor (Thauer et al., 1977).

By comparing the standard free energy for methanogenesis (Table 1) with that for sulphate reduction (Table 2), it is obvious that for each mole of electron

donor oxidised, bacteria utilising sulphate will yield more energy than acetogens and/or methanogens. This also applies for competition with acetogens for other electron donors such as alcohols and lactate. Using thin stillage, rich in sulphate, will thus result in competition for electron donors between SRB and acetogens on the one hand, and methanogens on the other. It is apparent that even in standard conditions, SRB will be able to oxidise longer VFA to acetate, and acetate to carbon dioxide (Table 2; Figure 2).

The thermodynamic advantage automatically leads to SRB being able to grow more successfully than methanogens at lower electron donor concentrations. This means that SRB may consume electron donors to the level where methanogenesis is no longer favourable (Kristjansson *et al.*, 1982). This phenomenon of SRB out-competition by lowering electron donor concentration has been observed for hydrogen in *e.g.* lake sediment (Lovley *et al.* (1982). Growth rate is also critical for competition and, as reviewed by Stams *et al.* (2003), SRB generally have higher growth rates that methanogens.

According to the $\Delta G'$ value (Table 2), sulphate reduction will thermodynamically always out-compete methanogenesis or acetogenesis, except when the sulphate concentration is too low. Therefore the effect of chemical oxygen demand (COD) (electron donor) to sulphate ratio has been evaluated in numerous studies seeking to identify the lower boundary for sulphate limitation (COD:sulphate ratio) and thus methanogenic dominance. Theoretically, a COD:sulphate of ratio of 0.67 g g^{-1} is required for complete reduction of all sulphate present and a larger ratio will result in excess electron donors which cannot be oxidised through sulphate reduction. Different COD:sulphate ratio values (1, 1.97, 2, 2.7, 3.7, 2, 4, 20.9 etc.) have been reported as critical for methanogenic dominance (Jing et al., 2013; Dar et al., 2008; O'Reilly & Colleran, 2006; Stams et al., 2003; Oude Elferink et al., 1994; McCartney & Oleszkiewicz, 1993). This broad range of ratios may be due to several factors, such as source of inoculum (which may or may not have been exposed to sulphate previously), type of substrate (complex or defined medium), reactor configuration (immobilised biomass or not), experimental set-up (batch or continuous), hydraulic retention time (HRT) and other process parameters. Nevertheless, there is consensus in the literature that a higher COD:sulphate ratio allows methanogens to successfully compete with SRB (Dar et al., 2008; Stams et al., 2003; Weijma et al., 2002; Oude Elferink et al., 1994; Visser et al., 1993; Isa et al., 1986). Studies on full-scale biogas production plants treating thin stillage to evaluate the optimal COD:sulphate ratio are scare. A noteworthy finding in this thesis is that a ratio of 28-34, much higher than the threshold values reported, still resulted in complete reduction of sulphate and vast amounts of sulphides being produced in the Norrköping biogas plant (Paper I).

Paper II studied the abundance of SRB in 19 different full-scale biogas plants in Sweden. These plants included processes with low sulphate concentration and different levels of potential inhibitory factors such as temperature, ammonium, ammonia and VFA and operating parameters such as substrates, HRT and organic loading rate (OLR). Our hypothesis was that environmental factors can be identified and used to yield a favourable methanogenic competition, as a consequence of SRB limitation. However, the results showed that SRB prevailed in equal abundance in all processes studied. even at low sulphate concentration (Paper II). The SRB abundance in anaerobic digesters $(10^5 - 10^7 \text{ gene copies})$ was similar to that in the other environments studied. However, the levels were still lower at higher nitrogen levels (>200 mg NH₃ L^{-1}) and a trend for lower abundance at higher temperatures (>45 °C) was also observed (Paper II). The function of SRB at low sulphate levels is described elsewhere, in studies which report that SRB are metabolically flexible and that certain species can grow fermentatively on various electron donors (Plugge et al., 2011; Oude Elferink et al., 1994). Furthermore, SRB may grow as acetogens by syntrophic degradation of propionate, lactate or ethanol in association with hydrogenotrophic methanogens (Stams & Plugge, 2009). This probably explains how SRB persist in most biogas processes at low sulphate levels, as indicated by the relatively high SRB abundance in digesters with sulphate-depleted substrates (Paper II).

2.2.2 Sulphate-reducing bacteria

The SRB are capable of dissimilatory sulphate reduction and use the energy from this reduction for cell synthesis and growth. The ability for dissimilatory sulphate reduction is distinguished from the widespread ability for assimilatory sulphate reduction by excretion of H₂S instead of incorporation of sulphur for biosynthesis (Rabus *et al.*, 2006). The majority of SRB belong to the subclass δ -proteobacteria, but in addition SRB are represented in the Gram-positive genera *Desulfotomaculum* and *Desulfosporosinus* and in the separate branches of *Thermodesulfobacterium* and *Thermodesulfovibrio* (Rabus *et al.*, 2006). Archeal strains (*Archaeoglobus, Thermocladium* and *Cladivigra*) are also capable of dissimilatory reduction of sulphate, as summarised by Barton and Fauque (2009). Natural habitats for SRB are anoxic environments such as marine sediments, flooded soil, rice paddies, hot springs *etc.* (Barton & Fauque, 2009). We also observed them in different types of full-scale biogas processes (Paper II). Different groups of SRB can use different electron donors such as H_2 , ethanol, methanol, lactate, acetate, propionate, butyrate, succinate, fructose, glucose *etc.* for sulphate reduction (Plugge *et al.*, 2011; Rabus *et al.*, 2006). The electron donor can be oxidised completely to CO_2 (complete oxidation) or incompletely to acetate due to the inability for terminal oxidation of acetyl-CoA (Rabus *et al.*, 2006). Typical incomplete oxidisers are bacteria belonging to the genera *Desulfovibrio*, *Desulfomicrobium* and *Desulfobulbus* and, to some extent, *Desulfotomaculum* (Devereux *et al.*, 1989).

SRB have been analysed and studied in several different environments using different strategies. In anaerobic digesters, these bacteria have been studied mainly by culture-based techniques such as isolation (Suzuki *et al.*, 2010; Zellner *et al.*, 1989) and most probable number (MPN) counting (Harada *et al.*, 1994), but also to some extent by molecular tools such as fluorescence *in situ* hybridisation (FISH) (Zahedi *et al.*, 2013; Boonapatcharoen *et al.*, 2007) and polymerase chain reaction (PCR) (van den Brand *et al.*, 2014; Paper II).

Despite the phylogenetic distance between SRB, they have a common gene encoding the key enzyme for dissimilatory sulphate reduction, dissimilatory sulphite reductase (dsrAB) (Wagner et al., 1998). This gene can be used for detecting SRB and has the advantage of targeting the whole SRB group, which contains phylogenetically distantly related species. The conserved characteristics of the dsrAB functional gene allowed Wagner et al. (1998) to amplify a 1.9 kbp sequence appropriate for phylogenic analyses. However, for quantification using environmental samples, alternative primers generating a shorter product have been designed (Geets et al., 2006). This primer pair yields a 350 bp conserved sequence and has been used in several studies on environmental samples (He et al., 2010; Gittel et al., 2009; Dar et al., 2007; Foti et al., 2007; Leloup et al., 2007; Kondo et al., 2004), and in biogas processes in this thesis (Paper II). For quantification, it is assumed that the gene is present as single gene copies, despite several dsrAB gene copies having been observed for Desulfovibrio species, which may bias the results if this group dominates in the sample (Kondo et al., 2004). In order to perform phylogenetic analyses on biogas samples in addition to quantification, in preliminary analyses we targeted the original, longer sequence of 1.9 kbp. However, despite PCR protocol optimisation and evaluation of alternative primers, no product of the correct length could be obtained from these environmental samples (unpublished data).

An alternative approach for phylogenetic analysis of SRB is to target the 16S rRNA gene of different bacteria known to have the capacity to perform sulphate reduction. However, primers targeting the 16S rRNA gene would be too degenerated and general, and would amplify several other microbial groups if designed to target all known SRB. Thus to target the phylogenetically

distantly related SRB, Daly *et al.* (2000) designed primers targeting six subgroups of SRB: 1) *Desulfotomaculum*, 2) *Desulfobulbus*, 3) *Desulfobacterium*,
4) *Desulfobacter*, 5) *Desulfococcus-Desulfonema-Desulfosarcina* and 6) *Desulfovibrio-Desulfomicrobium*.

The existence of different SRB in anaerobic digesters has been observed in several studies, but no complete mapping of SRB has been performed for biogas reactor material. Therefore the primers designed by Daly *et al.* (2000) were used for this purpose on reactor material from the Norrköping biogas plant. Nested PCR, with a general initial amplification to increase the product yield and sensitivity of the analysis, was applied. Amplification of all groups except *Desulfobacterium* (group 3) was obtained, indicating that this group was not present in the inoculum. The sequences obtained were analysed using clone libraries, MAFFT v7.017 multiple alignment (Katoh *et al.*, 2002) and subsequently with a PHYML tree-building algorithm (Guidon & Gascuel, 2003) with Geneiuos R6 (Biomatters Ltd.). Clones obtained with clone libraries of each group are indicated with blue font in the phylogenetic tree (Figure 3). Coverage for the clone library of group 1 was 87.5%, group (2) 88.6%, group 4 87.6%, group 5 64.7% and group 6 84.0% (>96% similarity).

Operational taxonomic units (OTUs) from group 2 grouped together with *Desulfobulbus* (corresponding to 47% of colonies from group 2). The highest similarity for these OTUs was obtained for *Desulfobulbus elongates* (96.0%) and *Desulfobulbus alkaliphilus* (95.7%). *Desulfobulbus* species such as *D. propionicus* and *D. alkaliphilius* primarily use propionate (other electron donors are also utilised) as an electron donor and typically oxidise this incompletely to acetate (Sorokin *et al.*, 2012).

Other group 2 OTUs grouped with *Clostridia* species and thermophilic sulphate-reducing *Thermodesulfobium narugense* and *Thermodesulfovibrio yellowstonii*. Furthermore, OTUs identified as *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia* (99.7%) and *Lactobacillus ultunensis CCUG 48460* (98.9%), which do not utilise sulphate, were present (Figure 3). Group 1 and group 4 OTUs grouped with *Desulfotomaculum*, but with low similarity to known organisms. The highest similarity was to two thermophilic *Desulfotomaculum* species. G6 OTU3 (8% of group 6) was identified as *Syntrophaceticus schinkii strain Sp3* (99.9%) and grouped together in a cluster composed of *Desulfotomaculum* species and *Thermacetogenium pheum* (Figure 3). *Syntrophaceticus schinkii* is not capable of dissimilatory reduction of sulphate, but *Thermacetogenium pheum* has been suggested to reduce sulphate during acetate oxidation (Hattori *et al.*, 2000). Similarly to *Desulfobulbus, Desulfotomaculum* is an incomplete propionate oxidiser (Devereux *et al.*, 1989). The fact that all SRB identified belong to the incomplete oxidisers indicates that this pathway

dominated over complete oxidation and suggests that acetate was still available for methane production. The energetic for propionate oxidation to acetate is quite favourable in the presence of sulphate, -38 kJ mol⁻¹ (Colleran *et al.*, 1995). However syntrophic oxidation of propionate without sulphate reduction is rather unfavourable (Table 1), and thus it is likely that propionate oxidation via sulphate reduction is an important pathway and that SRB could help to avoid propionate accumulation in sulphate-containing anaerobic digesters.



Figure 3. Clone libraries of SRB-subgroups 1, 2, 4-6. Blue font indicates OTUs from the reactor sample. Nodes with bootstrap proportion > 50 are indicated by circular node shapes

Most OTUs of group 1, 4 and 5 and a few OTUs of group 2 and 6 did not cluster with known SRB, however, Instead, a large cluster contained Clostridium species such as C. propionicum (89.2% G2 OTU2), C. thermocellum (90.3% G5 OTU8), C. acetireducens (90.7% G6 OTU4) and C. thiosulfatireducens (88.1% G6 OTU4). Clostridium propionicum can convert alanine to lactate and further to propionate (Kuchta & Abeles, 1985), while C. thermocellum is a thermophilic bacteria capable of cellulose conversion into ethanol, acetate and hydrogen (Weimer & Zeikus, 1977). Clostridium acetireducens converts several amino acids while using acetate as an electron acceptor (Orlygsson et al., 1996) and C. thiosulfatireducens reduces thiosulphate and elemental sulphur and can use various amino acids (Hernandez-Eugenio et al., 2002). In addition to clostridia species, Stenotrophomonas maltophilia (99.7%) and Lactobacillus ultunensis (98.9%) were also identified. Stenotrophomonas maltophilia is a non-fermentative bacterium which belongs to the g-proteobacteria Xanthomonadles. It has been observed to degrade aromatic compounds in the presence of nitrate as an electron acceptor (Su & Kafkewitz, 1994). Lactobacillus ultunensis converts several sugars to lactic acid (Roos et al., 2005).

However, none of these bacteria can reduce sulphate and it is most probable that the detection of these was a result of poor primer selectivity. The primers designed by Daly *et al.* (2000) were created using a large number of SRB isolates, but only a limited number of negative controls. Hence, our theoretical analysis of primer specificity showed that group 2, 5 and 6 primers have low selectivity and could theoretically amplify species belonging to *Clostridia, Thermotoga* and *Enterobacter*. This explains the clones obtained clustering with Clostridia species and hits of *e.g. Syntrophaceticus schinkii, Stenotrophomonas* and *Lactobacillus*.

2.2.3 The effect of ammonia

Thin stillage contains a large amount of proteins. During anaerobic digestion of thin stillage, ammonia (NH₃) and ammonium are thus released (Figure 2), sometimes in very high quantities (Eskicioglu *et al.*, 2011; Gustavsson *et al.*, 2011; Paper IV). Ammonia-nitrogen (NH₃-N) has been identified as an inhibitory compound for methanogens, the proposed mechanism being that the small, neutral ammonia molecule can pass over the cell membrane. Once inside the cell, the lower internal cell pH causes a shift towards ammonium-nitrogen (NH₄⁺-N), which affects both the cell pH and the trans-membrane potential (Sprott & Patel, 1986). As a consequence of this inhibitory effect of ammonia on the microorganisms involved in methane production, it has been suggested that a high NH₄⁺-N concentration cause a

shift in acetate degradation from acetotrophic methanogenesis to SAO (Fotidis et al., 2014; Werner et al., 2014; Schnürer & Nordberg, 2008; Schnürer et al., 1994). Moreover, increasing NH₄⁺-N or NH₃-N has been observed to promote increasing abundance of SAOB, while the ammonia-sensitive acetotrophic Methanosaetaceae simultaneously decrease or are undetected (Sun et al., 2014; Westerholm et al., 2011a). This has also been observed during anaerobic digestion of thin stillage (Westerholm et al., 2012; Paper III and IV). In addition to being ammonia-sensitive, Methanosaetaceae are also sensitive to the high pH often observed in ammonia-rich processes and are thus most likely replaced by SAOB in degradation of ammonia-rich substrates such as thin stillage. The SAO pathway has been suggested to always dominate if Methanosaetaceae are absent (De Vrieze et al., 2012; Karakashev et al., 2006). The abundance and the community structure of acetogens/SAOB are both affected by increasing NH₃-N and specific genotypes of potential SAOB have been observed to increase in abundance in response to different ammonia levels (Müller et al., 2015; Paper IV).

The $\Delta G'$ of acetate oxidation is only negative if the hydrogen pressure is kept low and this can be performed by hydrogenotrophic methanogens or by other hydrogen scavengers (such as SRB) if alternative electron acceptors are present (Table 1). The energy requirement for ATP synthesis is assumed to be -60 kJ, while SAO yields ΔG^2 -25 kJ mol⁻¹ acetate, and hence SAO is correlated with slow growth rates (Westerholm et al., 2012; Hattori, 2008; Schnürer & Nordberg, 2008). Methanomicrobiales and Methanobacteriales are considered tentative partners to SAOB during SAO (Fotidis et al., 2013; De Vrieze et al., 2012; Westerholm et al., 2011a; Schnürer et al., 1999; Paper III and IV). In addition to hydrogenotrophic methanogens, Methanosarcinacea sp. have been detected in several SAO-dominated processes and are considered to be comparatively tolerant to typical stresses, e.g. NH₄⁺-N, pH and temperature changes (De Vrieze et al., 2012; Karlsson et al., 2012; Westerholm et al., 2012; Hao et al., 2011; Sasaki et al., 2011; Shimada et al., 2011; Westerholm et al., 2011a; Karakashev et al., 2005; Paper III). Methanosarcinacea have also been suggested to operate as the hydrogen-consuming partner organism during SAO (De Vrieze et al., 2012; Karlsson et al., 2012).

Only a few SAOB have been isolated to date. These are the thermophilic *AOR* (Lee & Zinder, 1988b), *Thermacetogenium phaeum* (Hattori *et al.*, 2000), and *Thermotoga lettingae* (Balk *et al.*, 2002), the thermotolerant *Tepidanaerobacter acetatoxydans* (Westerholm, 2011) and the mesophilic *Clostridium ultunense* (Schnürer *et al.*, 1996) and *Syntrophaceticus schinkii* (Westerholm *et al.*, 2010). Doubling times are generally longer for SAOB when oxidising acetate with a hydrogen-consuming partner than for the

acetotrophic methanogens, especially for mesophilic environments: up to 28 days for *C. ultunense* and 78 days for *Syntrophaceticus schinkii* compared with less than 9 days for different methanogens (Westerholm, 2012a; Demirel & Scherer, 2008). In addition to ammonia, temperature has been identified as being selective for SAO. This is most likely because of the increased standard free energy at elevated temperature during SAO (ΔG° ' = -31 kJ at 37 °C (Table 1) and -36 kJ at 60 °C), but also because the relative fraction of NH₃-N compared with NH₄⁺-N increases at higher temperatures and thus increases the inhibitory effect of ammonia on *Methanosaetaceae* (Hansen *et al.*, 1998).

2.3 Optimisation of anaerobic digestion of thin stillage

The overall biogas yield from an industrial production plant is considered to be correlated to the microbial population structure and activity. Two steps, hydrolysis and methanogenesis (Figure 2), are generally identified as bottlenecks that ultimately affect the biogas yield of a digestion plant (Angelidaki et al., 2011; Appels et al., 2008; Ahring et al., 1995). The degradation of substrates with complex structures, e.g. lignocellulolytic materials such as straw or materials that have already been microbiologically degraded, such as sewage sludge, is typically rate-limited by the hydrolysis step. On the other hand, methanogenesis is usually the bottleneck for easily accessible and energy-rich substrates such as proteins, soluble carbohydrates and fat. In this case, the build-up of VFA is a common indicator of too slow methanogenesis, leading to elevated hydrogen pressure and product inhibition of the syntrophic oxidation of acids (Angelidaki et al., 2011; Ahring et al., 1995; Zinder, 1984). The aim in any industrial biogas plant should therefore be to increase the rate of the step acting as the bottleneck. In the case of hydrolysis, this is commonly achieved by pretreatment of the feedstock, as reviewed by Carrere et al. (2010). Optimisation of the methanogenesis step is more complicated. The hydrogen pressure is, as already described, of the utmost importance for successful anaerobic digestion, so the OLR is often kept at a suboptimal level to avoid the risk of too much hydrogen being produced in the fermentative steps, leading to VFA build-up. However, the suboptimal OLR reduces the amount of gas produced and can thereby compromise the economic performance of the plant. Optimisation of methanogenesis thus involves providing optimal conditions for the methanogens, including temperature, concentration of inhibitory substances, availability of nutrients etc.

The bottleneck during anaerobic digestion of thin stillage, which contains readily available organic matter, is most likely methanogenesis. Moreover, the high content of sulphate and incoming nitrogen affect the possibilities to optimise the process, since these factors need to be considered in order to avoid VFA accumulation.

2.3.1 Optimisation using laboratory-scale experiments

Full-scale biogas processes are often not suitable for evaluation of strategies for process optimisation. The organic load, HRT and substrate composition are often variable or difficult to control. In addition, biogas production cannot be risked, in the case the evaluated strategy is unsuccessful. Hence laboratory experiments are generally used, as they typically result in similar gas yields and process performance as in full-scale processes (Grimm et al., 2014; Paper I, III and IV). The experiments are often performed in down-scaled reactors, for example 12 L reactors (active volume 9 L) (Nordell et al., 2011). With laboratory experiments, it is possible to gain better control over factors such as substrate composition, HRT and other environmental factors than at full-scale level. It is also possible to use several reactors in parallel and change single factors and compare the effects. However, there are several factors that compromise the value of the results. First, there is a risk of obtaining too favourable and over-specialised processes compared with full scale when using large batches of the same substrate, resulting in low variation in composition (giving lower uncertainty in the results) together with strictly controlled environmental and operating conditions (i.e. HRT, OLR, temperature etc.). In the long run, this can lead to overestimation of the optimal OLR and gas production and can create a specialised, even less diverse and perhaps more sensitive microbial population due to low variability of the substrate, operation etc. Second, semi-continuous feeding in 24-hour cycles, as commonly applied for practical reasons in laboratory-scale studies when treating feedstock with a high dry solids content, results in occasional (directly after feeding) very high OLR. This in turn results in a higher VFA concentration (and most likely higher hydrogen pressure) and a pH drop during the beginning of the feeding cycle compared with continuous operation. Semi-continuous feeding is hence typically reported to have negative effects on process stability and to affect the methanogenic population, because of unnatural variations in OLR (Conklin et al., 2006). However, recent results suggest the opposite, *i.e.* that higher biogas production can be obtained during semi-continuous feeding regimes, indicating an separation of methanogenic pathways throughout the feeding cycle (Schmidt, 2015; Mulat, 2014; Polag, 2014).

In order to simulate the process accurately in laboratory-scale reactors, selection of inoculum and experiments needs to be carried out carefully. Factors of importance in obtaining accurate results include for example: i) maintaining anoxic conditions to avoid oxidation of H_2S and inhibition of anaerobic microorganisms, ii) leaving at least three HRT before changing experimental conditions, since this is the time needed to reach chemical (and biological) equilibrium in the reactors, iii) using accurate temperature control to avoid ambiguous effects on microbial composition, iv) controlling the active volume in the reactor in order to keep the correct HRT and OLR, and v) analysing the organic content in substrate and digestate correctly (taking VFA levels into account) to obtain correct OLR, VS destruction *etc.*

Accurate volumetric gas production and methane gas measurements are also important for evaluating the performance of the biogas process and should preferably be determined by online measurements. The measurement data may allow kinetic analyses in a semi-continuous mode (Nordell *et al.*, 2013). The kinetic analyses can be used both as an early warning indicator and for evaluation of process stability (Paper III). In addition to gas kinetics, process stability can be determined by combining several factors, the most important being methane content, specific methane production, gas kinetics, VFA concentration, alkalinity, trace element concentration, pH, NH_4^+ -N, NH_3 -N, H_2S and degree of degradation (Boe, 2010; Paper III and V).

In addition to semi-continuous experiments, biochemical methane potential (BMP) tests can be used as an evaluation tool. BMP tests are mainly used to determine the methane potential of organic materials (Raposo et al., 2011; Angelidaki et al., 2009). In brief, inoculum and substrate are added together with buffer, metals and vitamins to N₂-flushed flasks. The excess pressure as a result of anaerobic degradation and the methane content are measured to calculate the total amount of methane produced from a specific amount of organic matter. BMP tests also indicate if a material is quickly transformed into gas or not. It should be emphasised that the results from BMP tests are restricted in their applicability for continuous biogas processes. For instance, the methane potential from BMP tests is maximum yield. In continuous operation, a fraction (1/HRT) of all material in the digester is removed each day (including fresh substrate), so a part of the substrate added is always washed out. However, this inconsistency is not always the case, and the BMP for thin stillage varies between 0.29-0.32 m³ CH₄ kg⁻¹ VS depending on batch from the bio-ethanol plant etc. This can be compared with the specific biogas production of 0.28-0.32 m³ CH₄ kg⁻¹ VS obtained in semi-continuous operation (Paper III and IV). However, results regarding pretreatment methods, degradation rates or inhibition studies may be used indicatively, since positive

or negative results obtained during BMP tests are also likely to occur during continuous operation, but not necessarily to the same extent.

2.3.2 Optimisation with maintained sulphate reduction

The sulphide produced during sulphate reduction is inhibitory to several anaerobic microorganisms. Neutral H₂S can pass over cell membranes and is therefore the most toxic form. The toxicity of H₂S is also dependent on the pH and temperature. High pH and high temperature force the equilibrium of H₂S \leftrightarrow HS⁻ + H⁺ to the right and to the less toxic form of the sulphide (Stams *et al.*, 2003). McCartney and Oleszkiewicz (1993) reported that 50% inhibition of SRB occurred at 85 mg S (as H₂S) L⁻¹, while methanogens have been reported to be inhibited between 50 and 270 mg S (as H₂S) L⁻¹, independent of pH, while lower levels apply for SRB (Oude Elferink *et al.*, 1994).

In addition to the toxicity, metal sulphides have extremely low Ks values, causing large amounts of trace elements such as cobalt (Co), nickel (Ni) and zinc (Zn) to precipitate and thereby become unavailable to trace element-requiring microorganisms (Jansen *et al.*, 2007). This is somewhat problematic in a biogas process, as methanogens are typically dependent on the trace metal level in the feedstock. Several key enzymes and co-factors such as vitamin B12 and F430 require specific metals to function. The most commonly reported trace metals used to optimise biogas processes are Co, Ni, selenium (Se), tungsten (W), Zn and molybdenum (Mo) (Gustavsson *et al.*, 2013; Karlsson *et al.*, 2012; Gustavsson *et al.*, 2011; Feng *et al.*, 2010; Jansen *et al.*, 2007; van der Veen *et al.*, 2007; Zandvoort *et al.*, 2006; Paper I).

To avoid these negative effects of H_2S , iron chloride addition is commonly used in full-scale processes (Ek *et al.*, 2011; Paper I). The iron (Fe) does not affect the activity of SRB *per se*, but at high iron concentrations most sulphides produced are precipitated as iron sulphide and the cell toxicity and precipitation of trace elements is reduced. Another options to reduce the level of sulphide is to micro-aerate the headspace of the digester in order to obtain oxidation to elemental sulphur or to use other downstream processes to clean the gas, such as ozone treatment, active carbon, microbial sulphide oxidation by *Thiobacillus etc.*, but this does not affect the sulphide toxicity in the digester (Ramirez *et al.*, 2011; Van der Zee *et al.*, 2007). Another strategy is to add a combination of iron chloride, hydrochloric acid (HCl) and trace elements in order to optimise anaerobic digestion of sulphur-rich substrates such as thin stillage (Ejlertsson, 2006). When iron precipitates sulphides, it is possible to add necessary trace elements without risking direct precipitation and thus positive effects can be obtained, as indicated in Paper I. However, the use of iron chloride to reduce the effects of hydrogen sulphide allows sulphate reduction to proceed, which leads to: i) the SRB remaining active and consuming electron donors, *i.e.* potential substrate for methanogens, and hence reduced gas yields and ii) the need for a large amount of iron solution to precipitate the H_2S produced, severely affecting the profitability of the biogas plant.

2.3.3 Optimisation at high ammonia concentration

During full-scale operation of the Norrköping plant with thin stillage substrate, the total ammonia level has reached almost 6 g NH_4^+ -N L⁻¹ on several occasions, with correlated ammonia concentrations of about 0.5 g NH₃-N L^{-1} (Paper I). With few exceptions, ammonia inhibition has not caused process disturbance at the plant, despite ammonia levels previously reported to be inhibitory being observed (Rajagopal et al., 2013; Paper I). One factor which may explain this is the combined addition of iron chloride and HCl, both of which are acidic, to the full-scale process in the Norrköping plant. By lowering the pH, the fraction of NH₃-N can be reduced and hence combined addition of acidic compounds can be used to deliberately reduce inhibition. In addition, the optimal pH for methanogens is well below what has been observed during anaerobic digestion of thin stillage (typically about pH 8) and enhanced process performance can thus also be expected from reducing the pH (Karlsson & Eilertsson, 2012; Ek et al., 2011; Paper I). Ammonia inhibition can also be restricted by the use of low temperatures (Eskicioglu et al., 2011; Hansen et al., 1998). Eskicioglu et al. (2011) showed reduced process stability during thermophilic digestion of whole stillage. Thus it is wise to avoid thermophilic process temperatures when treating nitrous feedstock such as stillage (Paper I).

Additional adjustments for high nitrogen levels include applying long HRT in order to reduce the risk of washing out the slow-growing SAOB (Westerholm, 2012a; Hattori, 2008). However, the need for long HRT may be counteracted by addition of necessary trace elements such as Co and Ni to obtain a more efficient SAO-dominated anaerobic process (Karlsson *et al.*, 2012; Paper I).

In order to avoid suboptimal operation (low OLR and long HRT), it is of particular interest to find additional alternatives to optimise the methanogenic process in this environment. One possible way to do this is to increase the OLR by concentrating the incoming nitrogen-rich feedstock. In stillage, nitrogen is bound to organic matter as proteins and directly depends on the incoming TS content (Wilkie *et al.*, 2000). SAOB are known to be slow-growing and thus a shortening of HRT might involve an elevated risk of washout (Schnürer *et al.*, 1999). However, by increasing the incoming TS content, the HRT can be kept

long enough for slow-growing SAOB, while at the same time the OLR can be increased and hence potentially result in increased gas production. The effect of increasing the incoming substrate concentration was thus evaluated for thin stillage in (Paper IV). The ammonia was successively increased from 0.3 to 1.1 g L^{-1} NH₃-N and this correlated with an increase of OLR from 3.2 to 6.0 g VS L^{-1} d. A control reactor in which only ammonia was increased by external nitrogen addition (urea) was also established. At 1.1 g NH₃-N L⁻¹, process instability was observed irrespective of the OLR applied and was identified as the ammonia threshold for degradation of thin stillage (Paper IV). However, until this level was reached, the specific biogas production was maintained, illustrating that elevated ammonia levels combined with high OLR are feasible. Other studies have reported a wide range of maximum ammonia (NH₃) concentrations for anaerobic digestion, but with a highest value of about 1 g L^{-1} (Lauterböck et al., 2012; Hansen et al., 1998; Angelidaki & Ahring, 1993). Additional full-scale benefits of concentrating the ingoing feedstock are: reduced use of fresh water, reduced amount of digestate, *i.e.* bio-fertiliser, to be deposited and also increased bio-fertiliser value by higher outgoing NH4⁺-N concentration in the digestate. In Paper IV, changes in the microbial population were observed for both methanogens and acetogens in response to increasing ammonia level, as well as OLR. At all ammonia and OLR levels tested, the methanogens were dominated bv Methanoculleus within the Methanomicrobiales, which has been determined to be a potential SAO partner at high ammonia concentrations (Westerholm et al., 2012; Westerholm et al., 2011a; Schnürer et al., 1999). However, within this genus, different species were found to dominate depending on OLR and ammonia concentration (Paper **IV**). This further underlines the important role of hydrogen consumption by Methanoculleus species in ammonia-stressed SAO processes. The acetogenic populations showed clear shifts in response to both increasing ammonia and OLR (Paper IV), as reported previously (Westerholm et al., 2011b). The acetogenic group dominating at start-up (*i.e.* lower ammonia concentration) was completely replaced by other groups, including previously observed potential SAOB, with increasing ammonia concentration depending on OLR (Paper IV). The clear shifts in both methanogenic and acetogenic populations in response to increasing ammonia levels and maintained methane yields indicate that optimised microbial populations for such processes may be obtained if sufficient adaptation time is allowed. However, the shifts in methanogenic and acetogenic population did not affect the threshold of ammonia inhibition (Paper IV), indicating a general inhibition level of ammonia irrespective of the specific microorganisms performing the degradation.

In order to obtain optimal conditions for methanogenesis at elevated ammonia conditions, an alternative temperature to the commonly used mesophilic (35-38 °C) or thermophilic (50-60 °C) temperatures could be considered. The known SAOB *T. acetatoxydans* has its highest growth rates at around 42-44 °C (Westerholm, 2011), and this organism has been observed in processes operating with stillage (Sun *et al.*, 2014; Westerholm *et al.*, 2012). In line with this, Paper III showed that the abundance of *T. acetatoxydans* and its potential partner methanogen, *Methanomicrobiales*, increased significantly during a slow increase in temperature from 38 to 44 °C during anaerobic digestion of thin stillage. This increase also had beneficial effects on biogas production (up to 22% increase), indicating the importance of this particular SAO couple (Paper III). Furthermore, this temperature is now being applied in full-scale processes with satisfactory results, including very low VFA levels and high process stability.

The ammonia and ammonium tolerance of SRB has been only sparsely studied, but in Paper II we found decreased abundance at elevated concentrations. At ammonia concentrations >200 mg NH₃-N L^{-1} , the SRB abundance (log 5.5 ± 0.2 copies mL⁻¹) was slightly lower than in low-ammonia processes (log 6.0 ± 0.2 copies mL⁻¹). This indicates that one alternative parameter that affects the competition between methanogens, acetogens and/or SAOB on the one hand and SRB on the other could be ammonia. Paper II showed that the abundance of SRB was lower at higher temperatures, although thermophilic SRB also exist, such as strains within Desulfomicrobium, Desulfotomaculum, Thermodesulfobacterium, Thermodesulfovibrio and archaea Archaeoglobus (Rabus et al., 2006; Pender et al., 2004). It is of course still very difficult to obtain out-competition of SRB given the higher growth rates, substrate affinity and diversity among SRB compared with methanogens (Stams et al., 2003; Kristjansson et al., 1982). However, at higher temperatures and/or ammonia concentrations, the methanogenic pathways are indicated to shift towards SAO and hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis (Westerholm, 2012a; Schnürer & Nordberg, 2008). SAOB and SRB do not necessarily compete with each other, since potential SRB could either produce substrate for SAOB (incomplete sulphate reduction) or remove the hydrogen produced by SAOB (complete sulphate reduction). Hydrogenotrophic SRB could possibly be outcompeted by the hydrogenotrophic methanogens and the SAOB T. acetatoxydans at elevated temperature and ammonia levels. This competition has not been studied elsewhere and was evaluated in Paper III by increasing the temperature from 38 to 44 °C while treating thin stillage. The abundance of T. acetatoxydans and the plausible hydrogenotrophic methanogens surpassed the SRB abundance and the SAOB abundance increased by a factor of 100,

while SRB abundance remained stable (Paper III). Despite the expected proliferation of the SAOB/methanogenic couple, sulphate reduction remained high throughout the experiment.

One possible explanation for this result could be the dominance of incomplete oxidising SRB bacteria, as found in the inoculum used for the startup of the reactors used in Paper III (see section 2.2.2). The incomplete oxidising SRB would produce acetate and thus no competition with SAOB or methanogens would occur, with maintained sulphate reduction as a result. Furthermore, SRB could still out-compete the hydrogenotrophic methanogens for hydrogen, resulting in complete sulphate reduction combined with SAO. In addition, on reaching the ammonia inhibition threshold (1.0-1.1 g NH₃-N L⁻¹) for maintained biogas production using thin stillage, sulphate reduction still remained efficient, indicating that there are ammonia-tolerant SRB (Paper IV).

2.3.4 Inhibition of sulphate-reducing bacteria

Instead of manipulating the environmental conditions in the biogas process, more direct tools can be used to remove SRB. Undesired sulphide production is not only an issue for biogas production processes, but also for manure storage, sewage systems or other sanitation facilities (Zhang et al., 2008). Consequently, specific inhibition, directed to limit the sulphate reduction, has been interesting for decades and has been well studied. Tekniska verken i Linköping AB adds nitrate, which is an alternative electron acceptor to sulphate and very oxidative, to the sewer system of Linköping city to reduce sulphide production. However, nitrate cannot be used in anaerobic digestion due to negative effects on methane production. Other strategies to decrease the activity of SRB include e.g. addition of molybdate (MoO_4^{2-}), which has been evaluated in numerous studies (Peu et al., 2011; Isa & Anderson, 2005; Patidar & Tare, 2005; Nemati et al., 2001; Fukui et al., 2000; Liu & Fang, 1997; Singh & Singh, 1995). Molvbdate works as a steric analogue to sulphate, binding to active sites of proteins used for sulphate uptake (Peck, 1959). Most of these experiments have resulted in total inhibition of sulphate-reducing bacteria, but the effect on methanogens has been contradictory, ranging from positive effects to total inhibition, probably depending on differences in inoculum, sulphate:molybdate ratio and molybdate concentration. Evaluation of the effect of molvbdate on the Norrköping plant revealed that sulphide production was reduced by 27% at 1.2 mM molybdate and >70% at 2.4 mM or higher molybdate concentrations (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Accumulated amount of hydrogen sulphide (H₂S) during a bio-methane potential (BMP) test investigating the effect of adding different concentrations (mM) of molybdate (MoO_4^2) on inoculum from the Norrköping co-digestion plant.

This is in agreement with several other studies on sediments, manure and pure culture, which identified the necessary concentration for successful inhibition of sulphate reduction as 2-5 mM molybdate (Zahedi *et al.*, 2014; Biswas *et al.*, 2009; Predicala *et al.*, 2008; Patidar & Tare, 2005; Scholten *et al.*, 2000). For sulphide production, the IC₅₀ was determined to be 1.5 mM according to the one phase exponential decay function (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Correlation between hydrogen sulphide (H_2S) production and molybdate (MoO_4^{2-}) concentration in bio-methane potential (BMP) tests. The trend line indicates the one-phase exponential decay of sulphide production.

Increasing molybdate concentration also resulted in decreasing methane production. At 1.2 mM MoO_4^{2-} , the methane yield was reduced by 9.6% compared with the untreated control and this difference increased to 19.9% at 2.4 mM (Figure 6). Isa and Anderson (2005) observed almost complete inhibition of both methane and sulphide production at 2.5 mM, while Scholten et al. (2000) observed a stimulation effect by molybdate as the electron flow shifted from SRB to methanogens. The reduced methane yield shown in Figure 6 was most likely due to a biocide effect, as suggested by Isa and Anderson (2005). An alternative explanation is that SRB, which are critical for fatty acid fermentation also in the absence of sulphate, were inhibited and that this led to accumulation of VFAs and reduced methane yield. Contradicting this is the fact that any accumulated VFA should have been converted to methane within the 90-day experiment. The complete reduction of sulphide production, but also negative effects on methanogens, observed in this study is in agreement with Zahedi et al. (2014), who studied the abundance of different microbial groups. For full-scale application, a reduction of 10-20% in methane yield is of course not feasible and therefore molybdate addition is not applied in full-scale operations in Sweden or elsewhere.



Figure 6. Accumulated methane production in triplicate inhibition bio-methane potential (BMP) tests. Each line corresponds to a different molybdate concentration indicated in the colour key.

2.3.5 Reducing the bioavailability of sulphate

Another approach to avoid the activity of SRB could be to decrease the bioavailability of sulphate. To our knowledge, no studies have previously been carried out on this aspect of anaerobic digestion. The theory is that addition of a precipitating agent could reduce the bioavailable sulphate for SRB, and thus

the amount of sulphate being reduced would decrease. There are a few sulphate salts with relatively low bioavailability. Among those with the lowest solubility in water is barium sulphate (BaSO₄; 0.002 g L⁻¹ at 20 °C), but for anaerobic digestion applications calcium sulphate (gypsum) (CaSO₄; 2.1 g L⁻¹ at 20 °C) could be considered. Calcium is administered in anaerobic digestion processes for several other reasons, such as for reduction of LCFA inhibition (Kleyböcker *et al.*, 2012; Ahn *et al.*, 2006; Koster, 1987), granulation in UASB reactors (Tiwari *et al.*, 2006; Yu *et al.*, 2001) and stabilisation of extracellular hydrolytic enzymes (Harris *et al.*, 2010; Ramani *et al.*, 2010; Swamy *et al.*, 1994). Addition of CaSO₄ would allow for a maximum reduction in free SO₄²⁻ of about 50-70% compared with the incoming concentration in the thin stillage. Hence, the iron addition and electrons going to SRB could theoretically be reduced by the same proportion.

Calcium addition was evaluated using two laboratory reactors as used in (Paper III). After 100 days of start-up, iron was replaced by calcium (Figure 7). By adding approximately 1 g L^{-1} calcium to the substrate between days 100 and 300, it was possible to reduce the dose of iron by 40% without increasing the H₂S concentration (Figure 7). However, when the iron dosage was reduced to below 50%, the H₂S concentration started to increase. This was expected according to the solubility discussion above predicting about 50-70% reduced iron requirement. Simultaneously, the alkalinity decreased in the reactor, indicating that precipitation of CaCO₃ had occurred. Following the increase in H₂S, iron addition was increased to correspond to a reduction of 40%. The calcium addition was additionally increased in order to regain the low sulphide level and further shift the reaction equilibrium towards CaSO₄, but without success. When the calcium addition was increased the free phosphate concentration also decreased, indicating precipitation of ions other than sulphate. It could also be possible that SRB with the ability to utilise precipitated sulphate proliferated, but to confirm this further studies are needed. As Figure 8 illustrates, CaSO₄ precipitation in digester material was clearly visible after centrifugation and salts adhered to reactor parts after the experiment.



Figure 7. Hydrogen sulphide (H_2S) production in response to iron and calcium addition between days 70 and 520 of digestion.

2.3.6 Optimisation by utilising the sulphate-reducing bacteria

An alternative method, instead of trying to minimise the activity of SRB, is to utilise the superior abilities of SRB in the anaerobic process as suggested by (Paper V). Hydrolysis/acidogenesis and acetogenesis/methanogenesis can be separated by using a two-stage process (Park et al., 2008; Yilmaz & Demirer, 2008; Schober et al., 1999). Therefore, SRB could be utilised to ferment VFA and produce sulphides in the first stage, and later methanogenesis would continue in the second stage. The lower pH in the first stage process would allow most sulphides to dissociate with the gas in this stage, and thereby separation of sulphides and methane can be accomplished and the need for iron addition reduced. Moreover, sulphate reduction at low pH (5.5-6.0) has been reported previously (Lopes et al., 2010; Ren et al., 2007; Mizuno et al., 1998). Further positive effects would be that the first stage acidogenesis produces CO_2 (Figure 2), and hence the methane content in the second-stage reactor could increase and the upgrading costs could be reduced. A combined reduction in iron addition and reduced upgrading costs could potentially improve the profitability of sulphate-treating co-digestion plants.



Figure 8. (Left) Tubes of centrifuged reactor materials, where white precipitation after calcium addition can be seen in the right-hand tube. (Right) Precipitate adhering to reactor parts after termination of the experiment.

In the acidogenic stage SRB are efficient VFA degraders (Ren et al., 2007) and less sensitive to H₂ according to their thermodynamic energies, so incomplete oxidisation would result in efficient acetate production and possibly an even more stable acidogenic process. The advantage of incomplete oxidisers compared with complete oxidisers is that acetate could still be converted into methane after sulphate reduction. Separation of the single-stage process of the Linköping and Norrköping biogas plants, which treat OFMSW and a mixture of thin stillage and OFMSW, respectively, was thus evaluated in laboratoryscale reactors in Paper V. The substrate mixtures used in the full-scale plants resulted in too low pH (3.8-4.5), lower than observed for maintained sulphate reduction. Consequently, sulphate reduction only occurred in the second stage. The low pH in the first stage was a result of the high OLR following the short HRT needed for separation of the stages and the inherent high VS load (46.9-14.1 g VS L⁻¹ d⁻¹). In order to maintain sulphate reduction in the first stage reactor, dilution of the substrate mixture and possibly also chemical addition for pH buffering would be necessary. However, dilution increases the volume of digestate to be transported and chemical addition would reduce the profitability of replacing iron. Hydrogen production in the first stage was low and instead acetate was the major product (Paper V), which was most likely caused by homoacetogenesis (Saady, 2013). Using only OFMSW, acetate

production persisted and was an appropriate energy carrier from the first to the second stage reactor, allowing very low energy losses and high methane content (+6%) in the second stage and increased methane yield overall (+12%) (Paper V).

3 Conclusions

This thesis confirmed that SRB are present in anaerobic biogas processes. It also revealed that SRB are present in biogas processes irrespective of sulphate concentration and that they can act as fermenters in sulphate-depleted environments. If sulphate is added to such processes, hydrogen sulphide is immediately produced. The sulphides produced by SRB in digestion processes treating thin stillage can be successfully treated by combined addition of iron and trace elements in order to obtain high process stability and clean gas. However, this is a costly measure and, moreover, it does not overcome the loss of biogas following SRB consumption of electron donors.

Studies to identify the conditions needed to decrease the competiveness of SRB compared with methanogens indicated decreased SRB abundance at elevated nitrogen levels and temperatures, but experiments at high ammonia concentrations did not result in decreased SRB activity. Instead, the increased ammonia concentration led to process failure of the methanogenic biogas process beyond an ammonia threshold for maintained process stability of 1-1.1 g L⁻¹. The ammonia threshold was independent of OLR, indicating that high OLR (*i.e.* concentrated feedstock) of thin stillage can be applied in ammoniastressed processes as long as the ammonia is kept below the threshold value. Applying a high OLR by concentrating the feedstock resulted in higher gas production and is also desirable as comparatively lower amounts of tap water have to be used and a smaller volume of digestate needs to be disposed of. The increasing ammonia concentration resulted in evolution of different acetogenic and methanogenic populations. From the results presented in Papers III and IV, it is clear that *Methanoculleus* species in cooperation with SAOB proliferate in ammonia-stressed systems treating thin stillage. Interestingly, different species within *Methanoculleus* and SAOB dominate depending on OLR and ammonia level.

However, the possibilities to influence the competition between SRB and methanogens while treating thin stillage proved to be limited. SRB were resilient to increased temperature and high ammonia concentration and still out-competed the microorganisms responsible for methanogenesis in these environments. Precipitation of sulphate in the form of calcium sulphate (gypsum) to reduce its bioavailability was also unsuccessful.

The methods which proved successful in reducing SRB activity, such as molybdate addition or low pH in the biogas process, had similar effects on methane production. Hence, molybdate or low pH could be used to reduce sulphate reduction in a two-stage process, but not in a one-stage biogas process.

Despite the unsuccessful out-competition of SRB, some of the results from this thesis are already being applied in the full-scale biogas plants operated by Tekniska verken i Linköping AB, fulfilling the aim of identifying optimal operating conditions for methane-producing microorganisms at elevated ammonia concentrations. Anaerobic digestion at 42-44 °C was found to be a successful method to optimise the SAOB pathway and is now applied at the codigestion plants with very satisfactory results. After the change of temperature and a consequent adjustment of trace element addition, high process stability has been observed. Another possible approach for commercial application is the two-phase process, which led to elevated methane content and increased biogas production for the Linköping case and could reduce the cost of gas upgrading. The stability of acetogenesis in the first stage of the process will hence be further evaluated at laboratory scale for possible full-scale application.

Overall, this thesis showed that VFA oxidation is important in high ammonia processes to avoid process instability. It is possible that the SRB fill an important function as propionate degraders in the presence of sulphate and thus should not be inhibited.

4 Perspectives

For future full-scale treatment of thin stillage, the most likely alternative is to dilute the stillage with other, sulphur-poor substrates. In this way, the fraction of sulphides being produced per unit of feedstock would decrease and thereby also the amount of iron required per unit volume of clean biogas produced. Moreover, if the sulphur-limited substrate were also nitrogen-depleted, it would be possible to reduce the ammonia inhibition.

Another alternative, not thoroughly evaluated in this thesis, is the separation of calcium sulphate (gypsum) from thin stillage. Sulphate is easily precipitated in pure substrate, but on mixing this with the anaerobic digestion material, several other ions would compete with sulphate for the calcium ion. The operation might also result in dilution of the material, increasing the solubility of gypsum. It would therefore be interesting to evaluate the possibility to fraction out the precipitated gypsum within stillage fractions subsequent to calcium addition. This could possibly be done by centrifugation. Calcium could perhaps be added prior to the conventional centrifugation of whole stillage, resulting in a gypsum-rich stillage and sulphate-depleted thin stillage.

Furthermore, the role of trace elements in the competition between SRB and methanogens has not yet been determined. Since mono-digestion of thin stillage requires trace element addition, addition of particular elements to favour methanogens over SRB would be interesting. Known effective trace elements for methanogenesis, such as cobalt and nickel, did not show such discriminating effects in this thesis. Other possibilities are use of adhesive materials selecting for active methanogenic biomass, for example nylon fibres. However, this would most likely be problematic in high solids degradation as applied in Linköping and Norrköping, due to the risk of clogging *etc*.

Applied research was the main focus in this thesis, so the emphasis on development of new molecular techniques was limited. Therefore, future research evaluating the role of SRB in biogas processes should focus on this subject. If longer PCR products could be obtained from digester samples when targeting the specific functional gene, more information about the SRB community in anaerobic biogas processes could be obtained. If, for example, the metabolic role of SRB could be mapped with this information together with the physiological characteristics of the SRB detected, it is possible that clues on how to select for methanogens would emerge. Alternatively, there are groups of SRB that mainly oxidise longer VFA to acetate without being sensitive to hydrogen pressure. These SRB could perhaps be desirable in an anaerobic biogas process for process stability (*i.e.* avoiding VFA accumulation) if the sulphides produced could be treated efficiently. In that sense, addition of sulphate could be a way of avoiding cases of process failure due to acid accumulation and imminent pH decrease. A corresponding addition of iron would be needed to avoid negative effects from the sulphides produced. However this would be more efficient if acetate-oxidising SRB were present, leading to complete neutralisation of the acids.

The selection of incomplete oxidising SRB in the hydrolysis/acidogenesis stage of a two-stage process should also be further evaluated. The incomplete oxidising SRB tolerate high hydrogen pressure, so the amount of VFA produced ought to be favoured if these are active. Separation of sulphide and methane formation is still of interest for thin stillage, perhaps in co-digestion with *e.g.* cattle manure to obtain buffered acidic process and avoid too low pH. The sulphides could be oxidised and distributed as elemental sulphur, while the methane produced (with higher methane content and without sulphide inhibition) in the second stage would be cheaper to upgrade and the iron consumption would decrease.

A first-stage process without sulphate reduction could also be beneficial for certain substrates. There are examples of sulphate-rich materials in which hydrolysis is the rate-limiting step, for example lignocellulose-rich materials from the pulp and paper industry. It is possible that hydrolysis of these substrates could be enhanced if the toxic sulphides were removed, as is actually the case for a two-stage process with low pH in the first stage.

References

- Ahn, J.-H., Do, T.H., Kim, S.D. & Hwang, S. (2006). The effect of calcium on the anaerobic digestion treating swine wastewater. Biochemical Engineering Journal. pp. 33-38.
- Ahring, B.K., Sandberg, M. & Angelidaki, I. (1995). Volatile Fatty-Acids as Indicators of Process Imbalance in Anaerobic Digesters. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 43(3), pp. 559-565.
- Alkan-Ozkaynak, A. & Karthikeyan, K.G. (2011). Anaerobic digestion of thin stillage for energy recovery and water reuse in corn-ethanol plants. Bioresource Technology, 102, pp. 9891-9896.
- Angelidaki, I. & Ahring, B.K. (1993). Thermophilic anaerobic digestion of livestock waste: the effect of ammonia. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 38(4), pp. 560-564.
- Angelidaki, I., Alves, M., Bolzonella, D., Borzacconi, L., Campos, J.L., Guwy, A.J., Kalyuzhnyi, S., Jenicek, P. & van Lier, J.B. (2009). Defining the biomethane potential (BMP) of solid organic wastes and energy crops: a proposed protocol for batch assays. Water Science and Technology, 59(5), pp. 927-934.
- Angelidaki, I., Karakashev, D., Batstone, D.J., Plugge, C.M. & Stams, A.J.M. (2011). Biomethanation and its potential. In: Rosenzweig, A.C. & Ragsdale, S.W. (eds) Methods in Enzymology: Methods in methane metabolism 494. San Diego, USA: Elsevier Academic Press, pp. 327-351.
- Appels, L., Baeyens, J., Degréve, J. & Dewil, R. (2008). Principles and potential of the anaerobic digestion of waste-activated sludge. Progress in Energy and Combustion Science, 34, pp. 755-781.
- Balk, M., Weijma, J. & Stams, A.J.M. (2002). Thermotoga lettingae sp. nov., a novel thermophilic, methanol-degrading bacterium isolated from a thermophilic anaerobic reactor. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 52, pp. 1361-1368.
- Barton, L.L. & Fauque, G.D. (2009). Chapter 2 Biochemistry, Physiology and Biotechnology of Sulfate-Reducing Bacteria. In: Allen I. Laskin, S.S. & Geoffrey, M.G. (eds) Advances in Applied Microbiology Volume 68 Academic Press, pp. 41-98.
- Biswas, K.C., Woodards, N.A., Xu, H. & Barton, L.L. (2009). Reduction of molybdate by sulfatereducing bacteria. Biometals, 22, pp. 131–139.

- Boe, K., Batstone, D. J., Steyer, J-P. & Angelidaki, I. (2010). State indicators for monitoring the anaerobic digestion process. Water Research, 44, pp. 5973-5980.
- Boonapatcharoen, N., Meepian, K., Chaiprasert, P. & Techkarnjanaruk, S. (2007). Molecular monitoring of microbial population dynamics during operational periods of anaerobic hybrid reactor treating cassava starch wastewater. Microbial Ecology, 54(1), pp. 21-30.
- Börjesson, P. & Tufvesson, L.M. (2011). Agricultural crop-based biofuels resource efficiency and environmental performance including direct land use changes. Journal of Cleaner Production, 19(2-3), pp. 108-120.
- Carrere, H., Dumas, C., Battimelli, A., Batstone, D.J., Delgenes, J.P., Steyer, J.P. & Ferrer, I. (2010). Pretreatment methods to improve sludge anaerobic degradability: A review. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 183(1-3), pp. 1-15.
- Colleran, E., Finnegan, S. & Lens, P.N.L. (1995). Anaerobic treatment of sulphate-containing waste streams. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek, 67, pp. 29-46.
- Conklin, A., Stensel, H.D. & Ferguson, J. (2006). Growth Kinetics and Competition Between Methanosarcina and Methanosaeta in Mesophilic Anaerobic Digestion. Water Environment Research,, 78(5), pp. 486-496.
- Daly, K., Sharp, R.J. & McCarthy, J. (2000). Development of oligonucleotide probes and PCR primers for detecting phylogenetic subgroups of sulfate-reducing bacteria. Microbiology, 146, pp. 1693-1705.
- Dar, S.A., Kleerebezem, R., Stams, A.J.M., Kuenen, J.G. & Muyzer, G. (2008). Competition and coexistence of sulfate-reducing bacteria, acetogens and methanogens in a lab-scale anaerobic bioreactor as affected by changing substrate to sulfate ratio. Applied Microbiological Biotechnology. pp. 1045-1055.
- Dar, S.A., Yao, L., Dongen, U.v., Kuenen, J.G. & Muyzer, G. (2007). Analysis of Diversity and Activity of Sulfate-Reducing Bacterial Communities in Sulfidogenic Bioreactors Using 16S rRNA and dsrB Genes as Molecular Marjers. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 73(2), pp. 594-604.
- De Vrieze, J., Hennebel, T., Boon, N. & Verstraete, W. (2012). Methanosarcina: The rediscovered methanogen for heavy duty biomethanation. Bioresource Technology, 112, pp. 1-9.
- Demirel, B. & Scherer, P. (2008). The Roles of Acetotrophic and Hydrogenotrophic Methanogens During Anaerobic Conversion of Biomass to Methane: a Review. Reviews in Environmental Science Biotechnology, 7, pp. 173-190.
- Dererie, D.Y., Tobro, S., Momeni, M.H., Hansson, H., Blomqvist, J., Passoth, V., Schnurer, A., Sandgren, M. & Ståhlberg, J. (2011). Improved bio-energy yields via sequential ethanol fermentation and biogas digestion of steam exploded oat straw. Bioresource Technology, 102, pp. 4449-4455.
- Devereux, R., Delaney, M., Widdel, F. & Stahl, D.A. (1989). Natural relationships among sulfatereducing eubacteria. Journal of Bacteriology, 171(12), pp. 6689-6695.
- Dridi, B., Fardeau, M.L., Ollivier, B., Raoult, D. & Drancourt, M. (2012). Methanomassiliicoccus luminyensis gen. nov., sp. nov., a methanogenic archaeon isolated from human faeces. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 62, pp. 1902–1907.

- Drosg, B., Fuchs, W., Meixner, K., Waltenberger, R., Kirchmayr, R., Braun, R. & Bochmann, G. (2013). Anaerobic digestion of stillage fractions - estimation of the potential for energy recovery in bioethanol plants. Water Science and Technology, 67(3), pp. 494-505.
- Ejlertsson, J. (2006). Method, a device, and an additive for digesting organic matter. U.S. pat. 7 947 484.
- Ek, A., Hallin, S., Vallin, L., Schnürer, A. & Karlsson, M. (2011). Slaughterhouse waste codigestion - Experiences from 15 years of full-scale operation. Proceedings of World Renewable Energy Congress. Linköping, Sweden.
- Eskicioglu, C., Kennedy, K.J., Marin, J. & Srehler, B. (2011). Anaerobic digestion of whole stillage from dry-grind corn ethanol plant under mesophilic and thermophilic conditions. Bioresource Technology, 102, pp. 1079-1086.
- EurObserv'er (2012). Biofuels Barometer. Le journal des énergies renouvelable, 210, pp. 42-62.
- Feng, X.M., Karlsson, A., Svensson, B.H. & Bertilsson, S. (2010). Impact of trace element addition on biogas production from food industrial waste - Linking process to microbial communities. FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 74(1), pp. 226-240.
- Foti, M., Sorokin, D.Y., Lomans, B., Mussman, M., Zacharova, E.E., Pimenov, N.V., Kuenen, J.G. & Muyzer, G. (2007). Diversity, Activity and Abundance of Sulfate-Reducing Bacteria in Saline and Hypersaline Soda Lakes. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 73(7), pp. 2093-2100.
- Fotidis, I.A., Karakashev, D. & Angelidaki, I. (2014). The dominant acetate degradation pathway/methanogenic composition in full-scale anaerobic digesters operating under different ammonia levels. International Journal of Environmental Science, 11, pp. 2087-2094.
- Fotidis, I.A., Karakashev, D., Kotsopoulos, T.A., Martzopoulos, G.G. & Angelidaki, I. (2013). Effect of ammonium and acetate on methanogenic pathway and methanogenic community composition. FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 83(1), pp. 38-48.
- Fukui, M., Suh, J.-I. & Urushigawa, Y. (2000). In SITU substrates for sulfidogens and methanogens in municipal anaerobic sewage digesters with different levels of sulfate. Water Research, 34(5), pp. 1515-1524.
- Geets, J., Borremans, B., Diels, L., Spingael, D., Vangronsveld, J., Leilie, D.v.d. & Vanbroekhoven, K. (2006). DsrB gene-based DGGE for community and diversity surveys of sulfate-reducing bacteria. Journal of Microbiological Methods, 66, pp. 194-205.
- Gittel, A., Sorensen, K.B., Skovhus, T.L., Invorsen, K. & Schramm, A. (2009). Procaryotic Community Structure and Sulfate Reducer Activity in Water from High-Temperature Oil Reservoirs with and without Nitrate Treatment. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 75(22), pp. 7086-7096.
- Grimm, J., Malmros, P., Schnürer, A. & Nordberg, Å. (2014). Comparison of pasteurization and integrated thermophilic sanitation at a full-scale biogas plant e Heat demand and biogas production. Energy, In Press.
- Guidon, S. & Gascuel, O. (2003). A simple, fast, and accurate algorithm to estimate large phylogenies by maximum liklihood. Systematic Biology, 52(5), pp. 696-704.
- Gustavsson, J., Svensson, B.H. & Karlsson, A. (2011). The feasibility of trace element supplementation for stable operation of wheat stillage-fed biogas tank reactors. Water Science and Technology, 64(2), pp. 320-325.

- Gustavsson, J., Yekta, S.S., Karlsson, A., Skyllberg, U. & Svensson, B.H. (2013). Potential bioavailability and chemical forms of Co and Ni in the biogas process-An evaluation based on sequential and acid volatile sulfide extractions. Engineering in Life Sciences.
- Hansen, K.H., Angelidaki, I. & Ahring, B.K. (1998). Anaerobic digestion of swine manure: Inhibition by ammonia. Water Research, 32(1), pp. 5-12.
- Hao, L., Lü, F., He, P., Li, L. & Shao, L. (2011). Predominant Contribution of Syntrophic Acetate Oxidation to Thermophilic Methane Formation at High Acetate Concentrations. Environmental Science Technology, 45, pp. 508-513.
- Harada, H., Uemura, S. & Momonoi, K. (1994). Interaction between sulfate-reducing bacteria and methane-producing bacteria in UASB reactors fed with low strength wastes containing different levels of sulfate. Water Research, 28(2), pp. 355-367.
- Harris, P.V., Welner, D., McFarland, K.C., Re, E., Navarro Poulsen, J.C., Brown, K., Salbo, R., Ding, H., Vlasenko, E., Merino, S., Xu, F., Cherry, J., Larsen, S. & Lo Leggio, L. (2010). Stimulation of lignocellulosic biomass hydrolysis by proteins of glycoside hydrolase family 61: structure and function of a large, enigmatic family. Biochemistry, 49(15), pp. 3305-16.
- Hattori, S. (2008). Syntrophic acetate-oxidizing microbes in methanogenic environments. Microbes and Environments., 23, pp. 118-200.
- Hattori, S., Kamagata, Y., Hanada, S. & Shoun, H. (2000). Thermacetogenium phaeum gen. nov., sp nov., a strictly anaerobic, thermophilic, syntrophic acetate-oxidizing bacterium. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 50, pp. 1601-1609.
- He, J.-Z., Liu, X.-Z., Zheng, Y., Shen, J.-P. & Zhang, L.-M. (2010). Dynamics of sulfate reduction and sulfate-reducing prokaryotes in anaerobic paddy soil amended with rice straw. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 46(3), pp. 283-291.
- Hernandez-Eugenio, G., Fardeau, M.L., Cayol, J.L.A., Patel, B.K.C., Thomas, P., Macarie, H., Garcia, J.L. & Ollivier, B. (2002). Clostridium thiosulfatireducens sp nov., a proteolytic, thiosulfate- and sulfur-reducing bacterium isolated from an upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) reactor. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 52, pp. 1461-1468.
- Isa, M.H. & Anderson, G.K. (2005). Molybdate inhibition of sulphate reduction in two-phase anaerobic digestion. Process Biochemistry, 40, pp. 2079-2089.
- Isa, Z., Grusenmeyer, S. & Verstraete, W. (1986). Sulfate reduction relative to methane production in high-rate anaerobic digestion: Microbiological aspects. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. pp. 580-587.
- Jansen, S., Gonzalez-Gil, G. & van Leeuwen, H.P. (2007). The impact of Co and Ni speciation on methanogenesis in sulfidic media - Biouptake versus metal dissolution. Enzyme and Microbial Technology, 40(4), pp. 823-830.
- Jing, Z.Q., Hu, Y., Niu, Q.G., Liu, Y.Y., Li, Y.Y. & Wang, X.C.C. (2013). UASB performance and electron competition between methane-producing archaea and sulfate-reducing bacteria in treating sulfate-rich wastewater containing ethanol and acetate. Bioresource Technology, 137, pp. 349-357.
- Karakashev, D., Batstone, D.J. & Angelidaki, I. (2005). Influence of Environmental Conditions on Methanogenic Compositions in Anerobic Biogas Reactors. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 71(1), pp. 331-338.

- Karakashev, D., Batstone, D.J., Trably, E. & Angelidaki, I. (2006). Acetate oxidation is the dominant methanogenic pathway from acetate in the absence of Methanosaetaceae. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 72(7), pp. 5138-5141.
- Karlsson, A., Einarsson, P., Schnürer, A., Sundberg, C., Ejlertsson, J. & Svensson, B.H. (2012). Impact of trace element addition on degradation efficiency of volatile fatty acids, oleic acid and phenyl acetate and on microbial populations in a biogas digester. Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering, 114(4), pp. 446-452.
- Karlsson, A. & Ejlertsson, J. (2012). Addition of HCl as a means to improve biogas production from protein-rich food industry waste. Biochemical Engineering Journal, 61, pp. 43-48.
- Katoh, K., Misawa, K., Kuma, K.-I. & Miyata, T. (2002). MAFFT: a novel method for rapid multiple sequence alignemnt based on fast Fourier transform. Nucleic Acids Research., 30, pp. 3059-3066.
- Kim, Y., Mosier, N.S., Hendrickson, R., Ezeji, T., Blaschek, H., Dien, B., Cotta, M., Dale, B. & Ladisch, M.R. (2008). Composition of Dry-Grind Ethanol By-Products: DDGS, Wet Cake and Thin Stillage. Bioresource Technology, 99, pp. 5165-5176.
- Kleyböcker, A., Liebrich, M., Verstraete, W., Kraume, M. & Würdemann, H. (2012). Early warning indicators for process failure due to organic overloading by rapeseed oil in one-stage continuously stirred tank reactor, sewage sludge and waste digesters. Bioresource Technology, 123, pp. 534-541.
- Kondo, R., Nedwell, D.B., Purdy, K.J. & de Queiroz Silva, S. (2004). Detection end Enumeration of Sulphate-Reducing bacteria in Estuarine Sediments by Competitive PCR. Geomicrobiology Journal, 21, pp. 145-157.
- Koster, I.W. (1987). Abatement of long-chain fatty acid inhibition of methanogenesis by calcium addition. Biological Wastes. pp. 295-301.
- Kristjansson, J.K., Schönheit, P. & Thauer, R.K. (1982). Different Ks Values for Hydrogen of Methanogenic Bacteria and Sulfate Reducing Bacteria: An Explanation for the Apperent Inhibition of Methanogenesis by Sulfate. Archives of Microbiology, 131, pp. 278-282.
- Kuchta, R.D. & Abeles, R.H. (1985). Lactate Reduction in Clostridium propionicum. The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 260(24), pp. 13181-13189.
- Lauterböck, B., Ortner, M., Haider, R. & Fuchs, W. (2012). Counteracting ammonia inhibition in anaerobic digestion by removal with a hollow fiber membrane contactor. Water Research, 46(15), pp. 4861-4869.
- Lee, M.J. & Zinder, S.H. (1988a). Hydrogen Partial Pressure in a Thermophilic Acetate-Oxidizing Methanogenic CoCulture. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 54(6), pp. 1457-1461.
- Lee, M.J. & Zinder, S.H. (1988b). Isolation and characterization of a Thermophilic Bacterium Which Oxidizes Acetate in Syntrophic Association with a methanogen and Which Grows Acetogenically on H2-CO2. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 54(0), pp. 124-129.
- Leloup, J., Loy, A., Knab, N.J., Borowski, C., Wagner, M. & Jorgensen, B.B. (2007). Diversity and abundance of sulfate-reducing microorganisms in the sulfate and methane zones of a marine sediment, Black Sea. Environmental Microbiology, 9(1), pp. 131-142.
- Liu, B.Y. & Fang, H.H.P. (1997). Effect of Molybdate on Sulfate Reduction and Benzoate Degradation. Journal of Environmental Engineering-Asce, 949-953.

- Lopes, S.I.C., Capela, M.I. & Lens, P. (2010). Sulfate reduction during the acidification of sucrose at pH 5 under thermophilic (55oC) conditions. I: Effect of trace metals. Bioresource Technology, 101(4269-4277).
- Lovley, D.R., Dwyer, D.F. & Klug, M.J. (1982). Kinetic Analysis of Competition Between Sulfate Reducers and Methanogens for Hydrogen in Sediments. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 43, pp. 1373-1379.
- Madigan, M.T., Martinko, J.M., Dunlap, J.M. & Clark, D.P. (2006). Metabolic Diversity: Catabolism of Organic Compounds. In: Madigan, M.T. & Martinko, J.M. (eds) Brock Biology of Microorganisms. 12. ed. United States of America: Pearson Education, pp. 613-651.
- Martin, M. & Eklund, M. (2011). Improving the Environmental Performance of Biofuels with Industrial Symbiosis. Biomass and Bioenergy, 35(5), pp. 1747-1755.
- Martin, M., Svensson, N., Fonseca, J. & Eklund, M. (2014). Quantifying the environmental performance of integrated bioethanol and biogas production. Renewable Energy, 61, pp. 109-116.
- McCartney, D.M. & Oleszkiewicz, J.A. (1993). Competetion between methanogens and sulfate reducers: effect of COD:sulfate ratio and acclimation. Water Environment Research, 65, pp. 655-664.
- Mizuno, O., Li, Y.Y. & Noike, T. (1998). The behavior of sulfate-reducing bacteria in acidogenic phase of anaerobic digestion. Water Research, 32(5), pp. 1626-1634.
- Mulat, D.G. Shifts in methanogenic pathways in response to change in substrate feeding pattern studied by stable isotope techniques. In: Proceedings of Biogas Science 2014, Vienna2014.
- Müller, B., Westerholm, M. & Schnürer, A. (2015). Assessment of fhs profiles in biogas digesters with respect to acetogenic population dynamics and discovery of potential syntrophic acetate oxidezing bacteria. Submitted.
- Nemati, M., Mazutinec, T.J., Jenneman, G.E. & Voordouw, G. (2001). Control of biogenic H2S production with nitrite and molybdate. Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology, 26, pp. 350-355.
- Nordell, E., Moestedt, J. & Karlsson, M. (2011). Biogas Producing Laboratory Reactor, Application No. 1150954-4. Application No. 1150954-4.
- Nordell, E., Moestedt, J. & Wiberg, L. An innovative method to evaluate biogas process performance by studying daily biogas kinetics in semi-continuously fed reactors. In: Proceedings of World Congress on Anaerobic Digestion Santiago de Compstela, Spain2013: IWA Publisher.
- O'Reilly, C. & Colleran, E. (2006). Effect of influent COD/SO42- ratios on mesophilic anaerobic reactor biomass populations: physio-chemical and microbiological propertiesa. FEMS Microbiology Ecology. pp. 141-153.
- Orlygsson, J., Krooneman, J., Collins, M.D., Pascual, C. & Gottschall, J.C. (1996). Clostridium acetireducens sp nov, a novel amino acid-oxidizing, acetate-reducing anaerobic bacterium. International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology, 46(2), pp. 454-459.
- Oude Elferink, S.J.W.H., Visser, A., Hulshoff Pol, L.W. & Stams, A.J.M. (1994). Sulfate reduction in methanogenic bioreactros. FEMS Microbiology Reviews, 15, pp. 119-136.

- Park, Y., Hong, F., Cheon, J., Hidaka, T. & Tsuno, H. (2008). Comparison of thermophilic anaerobic digestion characteristics between single-phase and two-phase systems for kitchen garbage treatment. Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering, 105(1), pp. 48-54.
- Patidar, S.K. & Tare, V. (2005). Effect of molybdate on methanogenic and sulfidogenic activity of biomass. Bioresource Technology, 96, pp. 1215-1222.
- Peck, H. (1959). The ATP-dependent Reduction of Sulfate With Hydrogen in Extracts of Desulfovibrio Desulfuricans. Biochemistry, 45, pp. 701-708.
- Pender, S., Toomey, M., Carton, M., Eardly, D., Patching, J.W., Colleran, E. & O'Flaherty, V. (2004). Long-term effects of operating temperature and sulphate addition on the methanogenic community structure of anaerobic hybrid reactors. Water Research, 38, pp. 619-630.
- Peu, P., Sassi, J.F., Girault, R., Picard, S., Saint-Cast, P., Beline, F. & Dabert, P. (2011). Sulphur fate and anaerobic biodegradation potential during co-digestion of seaweed biomass (Ulva sp.) with pig slurry. Bioresource Technology, 102(23), pp. 10794-10802.
- Plugge, C.M., Zhang, W., Scholten, J.C.M. & Stams, A.J.M. (2011). Metabolic flexibility of sulfate-reducing bacteria. Frontiers in Microbiology, 2: 81.
- Polag, D. Application of laser absorption spectroscopy (13C-CH4) and (13C-CO2) for online monitoring in biogas plants. In: Proceedings of Biogas Science 2014, Vienna2014.
- Predicala, B., Nemati, M., Stade, S. & Laguë, C. (2008). Control of H2S emission from swine manure using Na-nitrite and Na-molybdate. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 154, pp. 300-309.
- Rabus, R., Hansen, T.A. & Widdel, F. (2006). Dissimilatory Sulfate- and Sulfur-Reducing Prokaryotes. In: The Prokaryotes2). Singapore: Springer, pp. 659-768.
- Rajagopal, R., Massé, D.I. & Sing, G. (2013). A critical review on inhibition of anaerobic digestion process by excess ammonia. Bioresource Technology, 143, pp. 632-641.
- Ramani, K., Boopathy, R., Vidya, C., Kennedy, L.J., Velan, M. & Sekaran, G. (2010). Immobilisation of Pseudomonas gessardii acidic lipase derived from beef tallow onto mesoporous activated carbon and its application on hydrolysis of olive oil. Process Biochemistry, 45(6), pp. 986-992.
- Ramirez, M., Fernandez, M., Granada, C., Le Borgne, S., Gomez, J.M. & Cantero, D. (2011). Biofiltration of reduced sulphur compounds and community analysis of sulphur-oxidizing bacteria. Bioresource Technology, 102, pp. 4047-4053.
- Raposo, F., Fernandez-Cegri, V., De la Rubia, M.A., Borja, R., Beline, F., Cavinato, C., Demirer, G., Fernandez, B., Fernandez-Polanco, M., Frigon, J.C., Ganesh, R., Kaparaju, P., Koubova, J., Mendez, R., Menin, G., Peene, A., Scherer, P., Torrijos, M., Uellendahl, H., Wierinck, I. & de Wildep, V. (2011). Biochemical methane potential (BMP) of solid organic substrates: evaluation of anaerobic biodegradability using data from an international interlaboratory study. Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology, 86(8), pp. 1088-1098.
- Ren, N.-Q., Chua, H., Chan, S.-Y., Tsang, Y.-F. & Sin, N. (2007). Effects of COD/SO42- ratrios on an acidogenic sulfate-reducing reactor. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research. pp. 1661-1666.
- Roos, S., Engstrand, L. & Jonsson, H. (2005). Lactobacillus gastricus sp nov., Lactobacillus antri sp nov., Lactobacillus kalixensis sp nov and Lactobacillus ultunensis sp nov., isolated from human stomach mucosa. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 55, pp. 77-82.

- Saady, N.M.C. (2013). Homoacetogenesis during hydrogen production by mixed cultures dark fermentation: Unresolved challenge. International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, 38(30), pp. 13172-13191.
- Sasaki, D., Hori, T., Haruta, S., Ueno, Y., Ishii, M. & Igarashi, Y. (2011). Methanognic Pathway and Community Structure in a Thermophilic Anaerobic Digestion Process of Organic Solid Waste. Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering, 111, pp. 41-46.
- Schink, B. (1997). Energetics of Syntrophic Cooperation in Methanogenic Degradation. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews, 61(2), pp. 262-280.
- Schmidt, T. (2015). Biogas production from wheat thin stillage Effects of different feeding regimes, increase of the organic loading rate, and trace element addition Unpublished.
- Schmidt, T., Pröter, J., Scholwin, F. & Nelles, M. (2013). Anaerobic Digestion of Grain Stillage at High Organic Loading Rates in Three Different Reactor Systems. Biomass and Bioenergy, 55, pp. 285-290.
- Schnürer, A., Houwen, F.P. & Svensson, B.H. (1994). Mesophilic syntrophic acetate oxidation during methane formation by a triculture at high ammonium concentration. Archives of Microbiology, 162(1-2), pp. 70-74.
- Schnürer, A. & Nordberg, A. (2008). Ammonia, a selective agent for methane production by syntrophic acetate oxidation at mesophilic temperature. Water Science and Technology, 57(5), pp. 735-40.
- Schnürer, A., Schink, B. & Svensson, B.H. (1996). Clostridium ultunense sp. nov., a Mesophilic Bacterium Oxidizing Acetate in Syntrophic Association with a Hydrogenotrophic Methanogenic Bacterium. International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology, 46(4), pp. 1145-1152.
- Schnürer, A., Zeller, G. & Svensson, B.H. (1999). Mesophilic syntrophic acetate oxidation during methane formation in biogas reactors. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. pp. 250-261.
- Schober, G., Schafer, J., Schmid-Staiger, U. & Trosch, W. (1999). One and two-stage digestion of solid organic waste. Water Research, 33(3), pp. 854-860.
- Scholten, J.C.M., Conrad, R. & Stams, A.J.M. (2000). Effect of 2-bromo-ethane sulfonate, molybdate and chloroform on acetate consumption by methanogenic and sulfate-reducing populations in freshwater sediment. FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 32, pp. 35-42.
- Shimada, T., Morgenroth, E., Tandukar, M., Pavlostathis, S.G., Smith, A., Raskin, L. & Kilian, R.E. (2011). Syntrophic Acetate Oxidation in Two-Phase (Acid-Methane) Anaerobic Digesters. Water Science Technol, 64, pp. 1812-1820.
- Singh, S. & Singh, S.K. (1995). Effect of ammonium molybdate on biomethanation. Renewable Energy, 6(4), pp. 441-443.
- Sorokin, D.Y., Tourova, T., Panteleeva, A.N. & Muyzer, G. (2012). Desulfonatronoacter acidivorans gen. nov., sp. nov. and Desulfobulbus alkaliphilus sp. nov., haloalkaliphilic heterotrophic sulfate-reducing bacteria from soda lakes. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 62, pp. 2107-2113.
- Sprott, G.D. & Patel, G.B. (1986). Ammonia Toxicity in Pure Cultures of Methanogenic Bacteria. Systematic and Applied Microbiology. pp. 358-363.

- Stams, A.J.M., Oude Elferink, S.J.W.H. & Westermann, P. (2003). Metabolic Interactions Between Methanogenic Consortia and Anaerobic Respiring Bacteria. Advances in Biochemical Engneering/Biotechnology, 81, pp. 31-56.
- Stams, A.J.M. & Plugge, C.M. (2009). Electron transfer in syntrophiccommunities of anaerobic bacteria and archaea. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 7, pp. 568-577.
- Su, J.J. & Kafkewitz, D. (1994). Utilization of toluene and xylenes by a nitrate-reducing strain of Pseudomonas maltophilia under low oxygen and anoxic conditions FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 15(3-4), pp. 249-257.
- Sun, L., Müller, B., Westerholm, M. & Schnürer, A. (2014). Syntrophic acetate oxidation in industrial CSTR biogas digesters. Journal of Biotechnology, 171, pp. 39-44.
- Suzuki, D., Ueki, A., Shizuku, T., Ohtaki, Y. & Ueki, K. (2010). Desulfovibrio butyratiphilus sp. nov., a Gram-negative, butyrate-oxidizing, sulfate-reducing bacterium isolated from an anaerobic municipal sewage sludge digester. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 60(Pt 3), pp. 595-602.
- Swamy, M.V., Ram, M.S. & Seenayya, G. (1994). β-Amylase from Clostridium thermocellum SS8 - a thermophilic, anaerobic, cellulolytic bacterium. Letters in Applied Microbiology, 18(6), pp. 301-304.
- Swedish Energy Agency (2013). Produktion och användning av biogas och rötrester 2013. Eskilstuna.
- Thauer, R.K., Jungermann, K. & Decker, K. (1977). Energy-conservation in chemotropic anaerobic bacteria. Bacteriological Reviews, 41, pp. 100-180.
- Tiwari, M.K., Guha, S., Harendranath, C.S. & Tripathi, S. (2006). Influence of extrinsic factors on granulation in UASB reactor. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 71, pp. 145–154.
- Wagner, M., Roger, A.J., Flax, J.L., Brusseau, G.A. & Stahl, D.A. (1998). Phylogeny of Dissimilatory Sulfite Reductase Supports an Early Origin of Sulfate Respiration. Journal of Bacteriology, 180(11), pp. 2975-2982.
- van den Brand, T.P., Roest, K., Brdjanovic, D., Chen, G.H. & van Loosdrecht, M.C. (2014). Influence of acetate and propionate on sulphate-reducing bacteria activity. Journal of Applied Microbiology, 117(6), pp. 1839-1847.
- van der Veen, A., Fermoso, F.G. & Lens, P.N.L. (2007). Bonding Form of Metals and Sulfur Fractionation in Methanol-Grown Anaerobic Granular Sludge. Engineering in Life Science, 7(5), pp. 480-489.
- Van der Zee, F., Villaverde, S., Garcia, P.A. & Fdz-Polanco, M. (2007). Sulfide removal by moderate oxygenation of anaerobic sludge environments. Bioresource Technology, 98, pp. 518-524.
- Weijma, J., Gubbels, F., Hulshoff Pol, L.W., Stams, A.J.M., Lens, P. & Lettinga, G. (2002). Competition for H2 between sulfate reducers, methanogens and homoacetogens in a gas-lift reactor. Water Science and Technology. pp. 75-80.
- Weiland, P. (2010). Biogas production: Current state and perspectives. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 85(4), pp. 849-860.
- Weimer, P.J. & Zeikus, J.G. (1977). Fermentation of cellulose and cellbiose by Clostridium thermocellum in the absence of Methanobacterium thermautotrophicum. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 33(2), pp. 289-297.

- Werner, J.J., Garcia, M.L., Perkins, S.D., Yarasheski, K.E., Smith, S.R., Muegge, B., Stadermann, F.J., DeRito, C.M., Floss, C., Madsen, E.L., Gordon, J.I. & Angenent, L.T. (2014). Microbial community dynamics and stability during an ammonia-induced shift to syntrophic acetate oxidation. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 80, pp. 3375-3383.
- Westerholm, M. (2012a). Biogas production through the syntrophic acetate-oxidising pathway. Diss. Uppsala, Sweden: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences.
- Westerholm, M., Dolfing, J., Sherry, A., Gray, N.D., Head, I.M. & Schnurer, A. (2011a). Quantification of syntrophic acetate-oxidizing microbial communities in biogas processes. Environmental Microbiology Reports, 3(4), pp. 500-505.
- Westerholm, M., Hansson, M., Schnürer, A. (2012b). Improved biogas production from whole stillage by co-digestion with cattle manure. Bioresource Technology, 114, pp. 314-319.
- Westerholm, M., Levén, L. & Schnurer, A. (2012). Bioargumentation of Syntrophic Acetate-Oxidizing Cultures in Biogas Reactors Exposed to Increasing Levels of Ammonia. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 78(21), pp. 7619-7625.
- Westerholm, M., Muller, B., Arthurson, V. & Schnurer, A. (2011b). Changes in the Acetogenic Population in a Mesophilic Anaerobic Digester in Response to Increasing Ammonia Concentration. Microbes and Environments, 26(4), pp. 347-353.
- Westerholm, M., Roos, S. & Schnürer, A. (2010). Syntrophaceticus schinkii gen. nov., sp. nov., an anerobic, syntrophic acetate-oxidizing bacterium isolated from a mesophilic anaerobic filter. FEMS Micobiology Letters, 309, pp. 100-104.
- Westerholm, M., Roos, S., Schnürer, A. (2011). Tepidanaerobacter acetatoxydans sp. nov., an anaerobic, syntrophic acetate-oxidizing bacterium isolated from two ammonium-enriched mesophilic methanogenic processes. Systematic and Applied Microbiology, 34, pp. 260-266.
- Wilkie, A.C., Riedesel, K.J. & Owens, J.M. (2000). Stillage characterization and anaerobic treatment of ethanol stillage from conventional and cellulosic feedstock. Biomass and Bioenergy., 19, pp. 63-102.
- Visser, A., Beekma, I., van der Zee, F., Stams, A.J.M. & Lettinga, G. (1993). Anaerobic degradation of volatile fatty acids at different sulfate concentrations. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology. pp. 549-556.
- Wood, B.M., Jader, L.R., Schendel, F.J., Hahn, N.J., Valentas, K.J., McNamara, P.J., Novak, P.M. & Heilmann, S.M. (2013). Industrial Symbiosis: Corn Ethanol Fermentation, Hydrothermal Carbonization, and Anaerobic Digestion. Biotechnology and Bioengineering, 110(10), pp. 2624-2632.
- Worm, P., Müller, N., Plugge, C.M., Stams, A.J.M. & Schink, B. (2010). Syntrophy in Methanogenic Degradation. In: Hackstein, J.H.P. (ed. (Endo)symbiotic Methanogenic Archaea. (Microbiology Monographs, 19) Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 149-173.
- Yilmaz, V. & Demirer, G.N. (2008). Enhancing the performance of anaerobic digestion of dairy manure through phase-separation. Clean-Soil Air Water, 36(9), pp. 760-766.
- Yu, H.Q., Tay, J.H. & Fang, H.H.P. (2001). The roles of Calcium in the sludge granulation during UASB reactor start-up. Water Research. pp. 1052-1060.
- Zahedi, S., Sales, D., Romero, L.I. & Solera, R. (2013). Optimisation of the two-phase drythermophilic anaerobic digestion process of sulphate-containing municipal solid waste: Population dynamics. Bioresource Technology, 148, pp. 443-452.

- Zahedi, S., Sales, D., Romero, L.I. & Solera, R. (2014). Biomethanization from sulfate-containing municipal solid waste: effect of molybdate on microbial consortium. Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology, 89(9), pp. 1379-1387.
- Zandvoort, M.H., van Hullebusch, E.D., Fermoso, F.G. & Lens, P.N.L. (2006). Trace metals in anaerobic granular sludge reactors: Bioavailability and dosing strategies. Engineering in Life Sciences, 6(3), pp. 293-301.
- Zellner, G., Messner, P., Kneifel, H. & Winter, J. (1989). Desulfovibrio simplex spec. nov., a new sulfate-reducing bacterium from a sour whey digester. Archives of Microbiology, 152(4), pp. 329-334.
- Zhang, L., De Schryver, P., De Gusseme, B., De Muynck, W., Boon, N. & Verstraete, W. (2008). Chemical and biological technologies for hydrogen sulfide emission control in sewer systems: A review. Water Research, 42, pp. 1-12.
- Zinder, S.H. (1984). Microbiology of Anaerobic Conversion of Organic Wastes to Methane: Recent Developments. ASM News, 50(7), pp. 294-298.
- Zinder, S.H. & Koch, M. (1984). Non-aceticlastic methanogenesis from acetate: acetate oxidation by a thermophilic synthrophic coculture. Archives of Microbiology, 138, pp. 263-272.

Acknowledgements

This project was funded by Tekniska verken i Linköping AB (publ.) and the Swedish Research Council Formas and formed part of the thematic research programme MicroDrivE at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences.

First of all I want to thank **Anna Schnürer**, my supervisor. For your positive attitude, kindness, commitment and never ending support. Thank you for quick and positive feedback and for always welcoming me in Uppsala.

I would also like to send my thanks to:

Lina Wiberg my assistant supervisor and head of Tekniska verken FoU Biogas group. For supporting me in combining the work at both industry and academia and for reviewing this thesis.

Erik Nordell, my intelligent co-worker, co-author, friend and sidekick at Tekniska verken. For good advice, discussions and lots of laughs in the hallway.

Bettina Müller, my assistant supervisor for helping me with your expertise within molecular methods and co-authorship.

Yasna Calderon for keeping track of me and for being a good companion at the biogas lab.

My creative and supporting colleagues and friends at FoU Biogas group at Tekniska verken. Particularly to my co-author **Sören Nilsson Påledal**. Additional thanks to **Sara Hallin** at Tekniska verken Biogas production, **Lovisa Fricot-Norén** and **Maria Axén**.

Martin Karlsson for valuable discussions and help.

To all members of the biogas group at SLU for good times in Uppsala and for helping me finding my way at the lab. With special thanks to **Simon Isaksson** for laboratory assistance and **Maria Westerholm** and **Li Sun** for answering my frequent questions and good company during laborious days.

Colleagues and friends at Tekniska verken water laboratory. For excellent help with analyses and enjoyable coffee breaks. Particularly to **Helen Wolrath**, sorry for all last minute analyses.

Sofie Holmström for excellent help, regardless of task and always with a smile.

Bo Svensson, **Annika Björn** and co-workers at Linköping University Thematic studies for interesting discussions and for granting me access to laboratory facilities and for participation in PhD courses.

Sedan några ord till familj och vänner:

Min fru **Anna-Clara**, mitt livs kärlek och bästa vän. Tack för allt tålamod, stöd och kärlek. Och tack för att du lyckats bryta mitt fokus på jobb, jobb, jobb ibland!

Min fantastiska son **Carl**, mitt lilla hjärta! Som vet att inget är viktigare än att leka och skratta.

Mina föräldrar, som har ställt upp i vått och torrt med barnbarnspassning. **Pappa** för värdefulla teoretiska diskussioner och **Mamma** för goda professorsråd om hur man ska lotsa sig genom den akademiska världen.

Till familj och vänner som peppat mig och hjälpt mig släppa jobbet i tankarna, ni vet vilka ni är!